July 1, 2015 – June 30, 2019 NJIT/PSA/AAUP Agreement

Contents

| PREFACE | 1 |
|---|----|
| ARTICLE I - PURPOSE | 1 |
| ARTICLE II – RECOGNITION | 1 |
| ARTICLE III – NEGOTIATING PROCEDURE | 3 |
| ARTICLE IV – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS | 3 |
| ARTICLE V – RIGHTS OF THE ASSOCIATION | 3 |
| ARTICLE VI – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE | 8 |
| ARTICLE VII – ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND RESPONSIBILITY | 16 |
| ARTICLE VIII – SICK TIME AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE | 17 |
| ARTICLE IX – PROFESSIONAL STAFF | 24 |
| A. Employment Basis | 24 |
| B. Hours of Work | 27 |
| C. Annual Evaluations: | 28 |
| D. Discipline: | 29 |
| E. Vacation Leave | 29 |
| F. Holidays | 30 |
| G. Administrative Leave | 32 |
| H. Professional Staff Sabbatical Leave | 32 |
| I. Seniority | 33 |
| J. Acting Capacity | 37 |
| K. Meal Reimbursement | 37 |
| L. Anniversary Date | 37 |
| M. Resident Life Staff Parking | 38 |
| N. Compensation | 38 |
| O. Professional Staff Merit Appeal Process | 40 |
| ARTICLE X – TENURED AND TENURE TRACK FACULTY | 41 |
| A. Notice of Non-Reappointment | 41 |
| B. Compensation Plan for Tenured and Tenure-Track Faculty other than Administrators | |
| C. Compensation Plan for Academic Administrators | 43 |
| D. Faculty Promotion Policy | 45 |
| E. Faculty Teaching Load | 45 |
| F. Research and Visiting Professors, Professors of Practice | 45 |
| ARTICLE XI – LECTURERS | 45 |

| A. Employment Basis | 45 |
|--|------|
| B. Compensation | 47 |
| C. Course Load | 48 |
| D. Other Provisions | 49 |
| ARTICLE XII – NON-DISCRIMINATION | 49 |
| ARTICLE XIII – GROUP REVIEW COMMITTEE | 49 |
| ARTICLE XIV – ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT | 50 |
| A. Fringe Benefits | 50 |
| B. Professional Conditions | 52 |
| C. Parking | 53 |
| D. Special Salary Actions | 54 |
| E. Scheduling of Instructional Staff | 54 |
| F. Class Size | 55 |
| G. Travel Reimbursement for Off-Campus Teaching | 55 |
| H. Other Compensation Considerations | 56 |
| I. Time Standards for Written Notification of Non-Reappointment | 56 |
| ARTICLE XV – JOB ACTION | 57 |
| ARTICLE XVI – JOINT PSA/AAUP AND NJIT ADVISORY COMMITTEE | 57 |
| ARTICLE XVII – GENERAL | 57 |
| ARTICLE XVIII – DURATION | 60 |
| APPENDIX A – PROFESSIONAL STAFF PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM | 62 |
| APPENDIX B – PROFESSIONAL STAFF SALARY MATRIX | 63 |
| APPENDIX C – PROFESSIONAL STAFF EXCEPTIONAL COMPENSATION PROGRA | 4M64 |
| APPENDIX D – FACULTY SALARY MINIMA | 66 |
| APPENDIX E – PAY DATES FOR 10-MONTH EMPLOYEES FOR FY18 AND FY19 | 67 |
| APPENDIX F – 1993 FACULTY TEACHING LOAD AGREEMENT | 68 |
| APPENDIX G – PROCEDURES FOR APPLYING FOR PROMOTION TO SENIOR LECTURER POSITION | 70 |
| APPENDIX H – LECTURER SALARY MATRIX | 72 |
| APPENDIX I – UNIVERSITY TUITION REMISSION POLICY | 73 |
| APPENDIX J – LARGE CLASS SIZE AGREEMENT | 80 |
| APPENDIX K – REFERENCE TO 1977-1979 AGREEMENT | 82 |
| APPENDIX L – SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT CONCERNING PROFESSORS OF PRACTICE | 83 |

PREFACE

This Agreement made and entered into this 2nd day of November, 2016 by and between New Jersey Institute of Technology, hereinafter referred to as the "Employer", and New Jersey Institute of Technology Professional Staff Association, Inc./AAUP, hereinafter referred to as the "Association", witnesseth: Whereas the parties hereto have entered into collective negotiations and desire to reduce the results thereof to writing. Now therefore, it is mutually agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I - PURPOSE

The parties express their goal of maintaining harmonious relations in establishing responsible and accountable terms and conditions of employment and in effectively resolving disputes. In order to enhance the educational mission of the University, the Association and the Employer agree to work together through collective negotiations, shared governance and collegial decision-making to achieve excellence in teaching and research and to establish sound working conditions necessary to attract and retain Faculty and Professional Staff to fulfill the University's mission.

ARTICLE II – RECOGNITION

The Employer hereby recognizes the Association as the exclusive collective negotiating representative for a negotiating unit composed of faculty and all Professional Staff employees including:

A. All Full Time Teaching Staff as Follows:

- 1. Distinguished Professor
- 2. Professor
- 3. Associate Professor
- 4. Assistant Professor
- 5. Lecturers, including, but not limited to, University Lecturer and Senior University Lecturer.

B. Academic Administrators Holding Faculty Rank:

The following positions are recognized relative to faculty and associated administrative and professional duties, excluding supervisory duties as defined by the New Jersey Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC):

- 1. Department Chair
- 2. Sponsored, Foundation or Endowed Chair
- 3. Assistant or Associate Dean
- 4. Center or Program Director
- 5. Head Librarian
- C. All full-time Visiting Professors who hold a tenure-track or tenured position at another institution, upon entering his or her second consecutive term of full-time appointment in said position(s), and all contractual term Research Professors, Professors of Practice and Visiting Professors without a tenure track or tenured position at another institution, upon hire.
- D. All full-time, Professional Staff who are non-supervisory as defined by PERC and below the level of an administrative or professional director/head of any department, office, center, division, or program, and including associate directors, assistant directors, administrative assistants I, program or function coordinators, assistants to deans, assistants to directors, assistants to department and/or sponsored chairs, assistants to department heads, program or function managers, professional librarians, program, function or center supervisors, and operational specialists in professional fields.
- E. Excluded from PSA recognition are: All deans, associate deans without academic rank, assistant deans without academic rank, center or program directors without academic rank, Head Librarian without academic rank and temporary teaching or research staff.
 - 1. Temporary staff are those filling positions that neither constitute part of the Employer's regular, continuing, position roster nor are budgeted for more than one academic year for teaching staff or one full fiscal year for Professional Staff.
- F. Also excluded are all clerical employees, security officers/dispatchers, police officers (including patrol officers, sergeants and lieutenants), craft employees, confidential employees, managerial executives, PERC defined supervisory employees, full-time assistant coaches, part-time employees, student employees, all employees properly included within all other collective negotiation units and all others not specifically included under provisions A., B., C. and D. above.
 - 1. Part-time employees excluded from recognition hereunder, include both academic personnel and Professional Staff who are employed in positions constituted by the Employer to provide no more than sixty percent (60%) of a full-time workload. Employees hired into positions at greater than the sixty percent (60%) threshold shall participate in negotiated university benefits on a pro rata basis and shall participate in State of New Jersey programs, in which the Employer participates, in accordance with the program parameters.
- G. In the event of the creation of a new job title, such title shall be subject to evaluation by a committee consisting of a member of the Association Governing Board and a member of the Administration in order to determine whether such title appropriately belongs in the bargaining unit. In the event of a decision by the Employer adverse to the position of the Association, such decision shall be resolved in accordance with the rules and regulations of PERC.

ARTICLE III – NEGOTIATING PROCEDURE

- A. The Association shall present to the Employer its demands in writing relating to terms and conditions of employment on or before October 1, in the year before the expiration date of this Agreement. On or before November 1 of that year, the Employer shall meet with the Association for the purpose of negotiating, in good faith, a mutually acceptable Agreement.
- B. As part of the negotiations for a successor Agreement, the parties agree that the failure of the Association, in any one year or any number of consecutive years, to present a demand for the purpose of negotiations or to participate in negotiations concerning terms and conditions of employment, establishment of new work rules or modifications of existing work rules, shall not constitute a waiver of the right of the Association to perform the function of exclusive representative as constituted by the New Jersey Employer-Employee Relations Act, and as amended.

ARTICLE IV – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A. The Employer retains and reserves unto itself all rights, powers, duties, authority, and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and constitutions of the State of New Jersey and the United States of America.
- B. All such rights, powers, authority, and prerogatives of management possessed by the Employer are retained and may be exercised without restrictions, subject to the limitations imposed by law and except as they are specifically abridged or modified by this Agreement and the system of faculty governance at New Jersey Institute of Technology.
- C. The Employer retains its responsibility to promulgate and enforce rules and regulations subject to limitations imposed by law governing the conduct and activities of employees not inconsistent with the expressed provisions of this Agreement and subject to recognition of the fact that proposed new rules or modifications of existing rules governing working conditions shall be negotiated with the Association or determined by faculty governance as it functions at New Jersey Institute of Technology, before they are established.

<u>ARTICLE V – RIGHTS OF THE ASSOCIATION</u>

A. Dues Deduction

1. In accordance with Chapter 310 of the Laws of New Jersey for 1967 (NJSA 52: 14-15.9e, as amended), the Employer agrees to deduct from each paycheck except for one (1) paycheck during each of the two (2) months in which three (3) paydays occur, the

Association dues of each member of the bargaining unit who furnishes a voluntary written authorization for such deduction on a form acceptable to the Employer.

- 2. The amount of the Association dues shall be such amount as shall be certified to the Employer by the Association at least thirty (30) days prior to the date on which deductions of Association professional dues are to be begun.
- 3. The deductions of Association dues made from each paycheck except for one (1) paycheck during each of the two (2) months in which three (3) paydays occur, pursuant hereto shall be remitted by the Employer to the Association before the fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar month succeeding that in which such deductions are made, together with a list of the names of Association members from whose pay such deductions were made.
- 4. The Association agrees to save the Employer harmless from any action or actions commenced by any employee against the Employer, for any claim arising out of such deduction and the Association assumes full responsibility for the disposition of the funds so deducted once they have been turned over to the Association as provided. Errors made by the Employer in the deduction and/or remittance of monies under this Agreement shall not be considered by the Association as a violation of this Agreement.

B. Representation Fee (Agency Shop)

1. Purpose of Fee

- a. Subject to the conditions set forth in 1.b. below, all eligible nonmember employees in this unit will be required to pay to the majority representative beginning thirty (30) days after signing of the Agreement a representation fee in lieu of dues for services rendered by the majority representative. Nothing herein shall be deemed to require any employee to become a member of the majority representative.
- b. It is understood that the implementation of the agency fee program is predicated on the demonstration by the Association that more than fifty percent (50%) of the eligible employees in the negotiating unit are dues paying members of the Association.

If at the signing of this Agreement the above percentage has not been achieved, the agency fee plan will be continued through the calendar year, after which it shall be discontinued unless the minimum percentage is exceeded on any quarterly date; i.e., January 1, April 1, July 1, or October 1, at which time the agency fee plan shall be reinstated with proper notice to affected employees.

In each year of the Agreement on July 1, an assessment shall be made to determine if the minimum percentage has been exceeded. If it has, the agency fee shall continue until the following annual assessment. If it has not, the agency fee will be discontinued and eligibility for reinstatement shall be on a quarterly basis as provided above.

2. Amount of Fee

Prior to the beginning of each contract year, the Association will notify the Employer in writing of the amount of regular membership dues, initiation fees and assessments charged by the Association to its own members for that contract year, and the amount of the representation fee for that contract year. Any changes in the representation fee structure during the contract year shall be certified to the Employer thirty (30) days in advance of the requested date of such change. The change will be reflected in payroll deductions at the earliest time after the receipt of the request.

The representation fee in lieu of dues shall be in an amount equivalent to the regular membership dues, initiation fees and assessments charged by the majority representative to its own members less the cost of benefits financed through the dues, fees and assessments and available to or benefiting only its members, but in no event shall such fee exceed eighty-five percent (85%) of the regular membership dues, fees and assessments.

3. Deduction and Transmission of Fee

After verification by the Employer that an employee must pay the representation fee, the Employer will deduct the fee for all eligible employees in accordance with this Article.

The mechanics of the deduction of representation fees and the transmission of such fees to the Association will, as nearly as possible, be the same as those used for the deduction and transmission of regular membership dues to the Association.

The Employer shall deduct the representation fee as soon as possible after the tenth day (10th) following reentry into this unit for employees who previously served in a position identified as excluded or confidential, for individuals reemployed in this unit from a reemployment list, for employees returning from leave without pay, and for previous employee members who become eligible for the representation fee because of nonmember status. For purposes of Section B., individuals employed on a ten (10) month basis or who are reappointed from year to year shall be considered to be in continuous employment.

The Employer shall deduct the representation fee from a new employee as soon as possible after thirty (30) days from the beginning date of employment in a position in this unit.

4. Demand and Return System

The representation fee in lieu of dues shall only be available to the Association if the procedures hereafter are maintained by the Association.

The burden of proof under this system is on the Association.

The Association shall return any part of the representation fee paid by the employee which represents the employee's additional pro rata share of expenditures by the Association that is either in aid of activities or causes of a partisan political or ideological nature only

incidentally related to the terms and conditions of employment, or applied toward the cost of any other benefits available only to members of the majority representative.

The pro rata share subject to refund shall not reflect, however, the costs of support of lobbying activities designed to foster policy goals in collective negotiations and contract administration or to secure for the employees represented advantages in wages, hours, and other conditions of employment in addition to those secured through collective negotiations with the public employer.

The employee shall be entitled to a review of the amount of the representation fee by requesting the Association to substantiate the amount charged for the representation fee. This review shall be accorded in conformance with the internal steps and procedures established by the Association.

The Association shall submit a copy of the Association review system to the Office of General Counsel. The deduction of the representation fee shall be available only if the Association establishes and maintains this review system.

If dissatisfied with the Association's decision, the employee may appeal to a three (3) member board established by the Governor.

5. Employer Held Harmless

The Association hereby agrees that it will indemnify and hold the Employer harmless from any claims, actions or proceedings brought by any employee in the negotiations unit which arises from the Employer's agreement to make deductions in accordance with this provision. The Employer shall not be liable to the Association or employee for any retroactive or past due representation fee for an employee who was identified by the Employer as excluded or confidential or in good faith was mistakenly or inadvertently omitted from deduction of the representation fee.

6. Legal Requirements

Provisions in this clause are further conditioned upon all other requirements set by statute.

C. Deduction of Retroactive Dues and Representation Fees

In the event that the Employer has not made the proper deductions of union dues and/or representation fees for any employee represented by the Association due to clerical errors or otherwise, and it appears that the Employer should have made such deductions in prior payroll periods, the Association agrees that retroactive deductions of the amounts past due shall commence in the month immediately following the month in which the discrepancy is discovered. The Employer shall prorate the amount of retroactive dues or fees over the next six (6) months of the affected employee's employment or until the employee's separation from the university, whichever is earlier. The Employer shall provide the Association a list of all employees for whom retroactive deductions are being made, the amount of the retroactive

deduction for each pay period and the starting and ending dates of the retroactive deductions. The Association agrees to indemnify the Employer for all claims by any employee for whom retroactive dues or fee deductions are made pursuant to this Agreement and save it harmless from any monetary liability for payments made in the Employer's proper performance of this obligation.

- D. The Employer agrees to recognize those members of the negotiating unit not to exceed five (5) who are designated by the Association as Association Representatives for collective negotiations by written notice of the names of such members of the negotiating unit given to the Employer. This section shall not preclude either party from inviting others to attend collective negotiations at the invitation of either party for the purpose of engaging in negotiations or providing factual knowledge or expertise with respect to a particular subject for collective negotiations. In this event, advance notice shall be given the other party.
- E. Representatives of the Association shall be permitted to transact official business on the Employer's property at all reasonable times during the period of time the university is normally open provided that they shall not interfere with or interrupt normal university operations.
- F. Whenever any representative of the Association is scheduled to participate during working hours in negotiations or grievance procedures, he/she shall suffer no loss in pay nor be expected to compensate in any other way for time spent in carrying out such responsibilities. However, both parties shall make reasonable efforts to avoid scheduling negotiations or grievance procedures in such a manner as to interfere with the meeting of scheduled classes.
- G. The Association shall be allowed to conduct general membership meetings on campus for up to four (4) meetings per fiscal year, and requests to hold additional meetings shall not be unreasonably denied. The Association will use reasonable efforts to minimize disruptions to university operations. Attendance by the PSA membership shall not be unreasonably denied.
- H. The Association shall have the right to make reasonable use of university facilities and equipment, including available duplication, computer, office, and audiovisual equipment, all in accordance with university procedures. The Association shall pay reasonable costs for the use of such facilities and equipment.
- I. The Association shall have the right, without seeking permission or approval, to post on bulletin boards, bulletins and notices to the employees it represents relevant to official Association business.
- J. The Association has the right to receive copies of all communications sent to PSA-represented employees concerning discipline, or matters that may result in discipline ("disciplinary communications"), at or about the same time that such communications are sent to the PSA-represented employees to whom the communications are addressed. In addition, subject to any law, regulation, subpoena or governmental order precluding such, the PSA shall be copied on any university-issued written communication to the employee, seeking to meet with the employee: (a) when such meeting is called to communicate disciplinary action to the employee; (b) when disciplinary action is foreseeable as a possible outcome of such meeting, or; (c) when

such meeting is called to investigate or discuss a possible violation of university policy by the employee interviewed. Copies shall be sent to the PSA care of the PSA office. Communications can be sent electronically. This provision does not apply to evaluations conducted pursuant to policies governing faculty re-appointment, promotion and tenure reviews, unless it is communicated in such reviews that suspension or termination from employment is contemplated.¹

ARTICLE VI – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. Preface

Any member of the bargaining unit or the Association on behalf of any member of the bargaining unit or on its own behalf may grieve alleged violation of the Collective Bargaining Agreement, applicable policy(ies) and regulations and administrative determinations made without just cause affecting the bargaining unit member. There shall exist two (2) separate exclusive processes to respond to such grievances. All grievances except for those involving promotion, and/or tenure denial or non-reappointment of non-tenured faculty shall proceed through and in accordance with that process set out by provision B., <u>Grievances Alleging Policy and Contract Violations (non-Tenure)</u>, below. All grievances, by faculty, surrounding determinations regarding promotion, and/or tenure and all those regarding non-reappointment of non-tenured faculty shall proceed through and in accordance with that process set out by provision C., <u>Faculty Tenure</u>; <u>Promotion</u>; <u>Non-Reappointment Grievances</u>, below. Challenges regarding merit pay shall be exclusively addressed through the procedures set forth in Article IX, X, XI, and any memoranda of agreement addressing merit pay.

B. Grievances Alleging Policy and Contract Violations (non-Tenure)

1. Time Parameters

The purpose of this process is to assure prompt and equitable solutions to the problems arising from the administration of this Agreement or other conditions of employment. Such promptness is an essential element. Failure of a grievant to meet any of the calendar limitations stipulated in the procedure below will constitute a waiver of his/her rights to claim grievance on the basis of the same alleged factual situation. Likewise, a failure on the part of a representative of the Employer to meet the obligations of any step in the

PSA Agreement 2015-2019 8

-

¹ By agreeing to this provision the PSA is not waiving its position that NJIT is legally obligated, independent of this provision, to provide it with disciplinary communications, nor is it waiving its right to seek any legal remedies to which it might otherwise be entitled in the event that disciplinary communications are not timely sent to the Union in the future. Similarly, by agreeing to this provision, NJIT is not waiving its right to assert that it is not legally obligated, except to the extent that it is bound by this provision, to produce any or all disciplinary documents to the PSA. By agreeing to this provision the PSA does not waive its right to assert that NJIT is obligated to produce any specific document, or class of documents, including but not limited to evaluation documents, that it believes it requires in order to provide representation to NJIT employees within its collective negotiation unit. Similarly, by agreeing to this provision, NJIT is not waiving its right to assert that it is not legally obligated to produce any specific document, or class of documents, to the PSA.

grievance procedure within the prescribed period of time will give the grievant an automatic right to proceed to the next available step in that procedure. Time limits provided in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties. It is understood, however, that nothing contained in this procedure should be construed as limiting the right or propriety of a member of the bargaining unit to discuss any problem informally with an appropriate member of the administration.

2. Procedure for Handling Grievances

a. Step One

A Grievant shall set forth his/her grievance, in writing, specifying the facts involved, the alleged improper action and the requested remedy. This grievance must then be discussed formally with the appropriate Dean or Director. The Dean or Director shall provide written response to the grievant, with a copy to the Vice President of Human Resources within ten (10) days following the discussion. All settlements of grievances at this level are expressly without precedent.

b. Step Two

Within forty (40) calendar days after the date of the occurrence causing the grievance or of the time the grievant should have reasonably known of the occurrence causing the grievance, the grievant shall, if he/she is not satisfied or has not received response through the process provided for in Step One, submit in writing to the Vice President of Human Resources or Provost, the facts of the grievance and the desired adjustment. For grievances involving faculty, teaching staff and academic administrators, the Vice President of Human Resources shall forward the grievance to the Provost who shall designate a Step II Hearing Officer. Grievances brought by or on behalf of Professional Staff members shall be referred to the Vice President of Human Resources who shall then designate a Step II hearing officer.

The Association shall be notified by the Step II Hearing Officer in the event the grievant chooses not to be represented by the Association for the subject grievance, and an Association representative shall have the right to be present at this and all subsequent steps in the grievance procedure and to present the views of the Association. The Step II Hearing Officer, within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the written grievance, shall meet with the grievant in an effort to resolve the grievance. The Step II Hearing Officer shall indicate his or her disposition of the grievance, in writing, within fourteen (14) days of said meeting to the grievant, and the Association, with copies to the Vice President of Human Resources.

c. Step Three

If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step Two of this procedure, the grievant or the Association, on its own initiative, shall, within fourteen (14) days, from the date of notice of the Step Two response, transmit the grievance to the Provost or the Vice President of Human Resources, depending upon whether the grievance involves Professional Staff or faculty. The Provost, or the Vice President

of Human Resources, as applicable (the Step III Hearing Officer) may hold a meeting on the grievance if he/she deems it necessary. The Step III Hearing Officer shall review the grievance record and shall issue a written response to the grievance within twenty (20) days following notice of the Step Three transmittal.

d. Step Four

If the grievance is one which can be carried beyond Step Three and no satisfactory solution has been reached, and the Association desires to institute binding arbitration proceedings, it must, within thirty (30) days of notification of the Step III reply, give proper notice to PERC with a copy to the Vice President of Human Resources, who shall provide copies to the General Counsel and the Provost. Such binding arbitration proceedings shall be in accordance with the rules and regulations of PERC.

- e. A grievance alleging a violation of the negotiated Agreement may be resolved by settlement only if agreed to in writing by the Employer and the Association.
- f. Copies of the written decision reached at each formal step of the grievance procedure together with all written documents specifically cited as rationale for the decision shall be provided to the Association within fourteen (14) days of specific request for documents by the Association.

3. Parameters on Arbitration:

- a. The only grievances which may be processed beyond Step Three and which may be arbitrated are those based upon an allegation that there has been a violation of this locally negotiated Agreement, including negotiated terms and conditions of employment embodied in university policy and regulation incorporated into the Agreement by reference.
- b. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to rule on grievances which concern actions taken by individuals or officials outside of the university, or which relate to governmental statutes or regulations affecting terms and conditions of employment.
- c. The decision of the Arbitrator shall not in any manner modify or cause anything to be added to or subtracted from this Agreement, any policy of the Employer, or any official agreement secured through faculty governance.
- d. Fees and expenses of the Arbitrator, as such occur, shall be shared equally by the Employer and the Association.

C. Faculty Tenure; Promotion; Non-Reappointment Grievances

1. Grievance Process

- a. The purpose of this exclusive process is specifically to provide the faculty recipient of an unfavorable tenure, promotion or non-reappointment determination, an opportunity to have such determination(s) expeditiously reviewed by the Employer, through an exclusive, binding and final process, to ensure the determination is not the result of a violation of procedure or capricious or discriminatory treatment of the grievant of substantial prejudicial affect upon the substantive academic decision rendered. A finding by the authorized designee of the Parties to the Agreement, of a substantial violation of procedure and/or caprice and/or discriminatory treatment, unduly prejudicing the affected faculty member, shall result in remand, only, to academic process for academic reconsideration absent those specific process irregularities and/or improprieties unduly affecting and prejudicing the original determination grieved pursuant hereto. Nothing herein shall modify or abridge the authority of the President and the Board of Trustees of the Employer from utilization of the management prerogatives specifically retained, pursuant to this Agreement, relative to promotion, reappointment and tenure.
- b. The provisions concerning the requirements of timely filing and notice, in Article VI, <u>Grievance Procedure</u>, provision B., **Grievances Alleging Policy and Contract Violations (non-Tenure)** and D., <u>Notice</u>, herein, shall apply with equal force to all steps of Article VI, <u>Grievance Procedure</u>, provision C. <u>Faculty Tenure</u>; <u>Promotion</u>; <u>Non-Reappointment Grievances</u>, above. It is further expressly understood that no procedural defect in original academic determination grieved, pursuant hereto, or in the process hereafter set out, shall result in reappointment, tenure or promotion; these are deliberative processes that may not be gained through error, omission or default in action

2. Procedure for Handling Faculty Promotion, Tenure and Non-Reappointment Grievances

a. Step One

The grievant must file his/her grievance, in writing, with the appropriate Dean, setting forth a summary of facts relied upon in making the specific claim of redressable impropriety in the promotion, tenure and/or reappointment process that serves as the basis of the grievance. Any and all grievances must be filed at Step One within thirty (30) calendar days of notice to the grievant of the academic decision grieved.

Within ten (10) days following formal filing with the Dean, consistent with the notice provisions herein, the Dean or his/her designee shall provide a meeting with the grievant (and Association representative if the grievant so desires) to hear the grievance and review its procedural and substantive merit. Within ten (10) calendar days following the grievance meeting, the Dean or his/her designee shall provide

written response to the grievant, the Vice President of Human Resources and to the Association, disposing of the grievance, either affirmatively or negatively, and with or without conditions or qualifications.

b. Step Two

Within fourteen (14) days following noticed disposition of the grievance at Step One, if the grievant remains dissatisfied with the imposed or proposed resolution at Step One, the grievant may advance the grievance to Step Two for review and response from the Provost or his/her designee.

The grievance as submitted to Step Two must specifically identify those aspects of the Step One response that are unsatisfactory and why. It must explicitly state why the grievance is valid, attaching or identifying all evidence in support of such continuing claim. The redress demanded must be specified.

Within fourteen (14) days following formal filing with the Provost, consistent with the notice provisions herein, a hearing with the grievant and an Association representative, if the grievant so desires, shall be conducted for the purpose of procedural and substantive review of the merit of the claim(s). Within fourteen (14) days following the hearing, the Provost or his/her designee shall provide written response to the grievant disposing of the grievance, either affirmatively or negatively and with or without conditions or qualification(s), and setting forth specific reasons for the disposition. A copy of the disposition shall be forwarded to the Vice President of Human Resources and the Association.

c. Step Three

Within fourteen (14) days following noticed disposition of the grievance at Step Two, if the grievant and the Association remain dissatisfied with the imposed or proposed resolution at Step Two, the Association may file the grievance with the university Academic Process Review Committee ("APRC") in the manner set forth in D(4) of this Article, for final, exclusive, formal disposition of the grievance, within the parameters set out below:

i. University Academic Process Review Committee (APRC) Term and Composition

The APRC shall serve one (1) year terms to expire at the close of each fiscal year of this Agreement (June 30). However, the APRC shall retain jurisdiction to hear all grievances, formally filed and appropriately at Step Three herein, during its term. Subject to c.iii. below the APRC shall be comprised of four (4) university employees, two (2) selected by the Association and two (2) selected by the Employer. Selection may come only from among those faculty at the rank of Professor and Distinguished Professor. Additionally, neither the Provost, the University President, the

Association President, the Association Grievance Chair nor any prior step hearing officer may serve as a member of the APRC.

1) All members of the APRC must, during his/her term, abstain from discussion and voting on promotion, tenure and/or reappointment decisions concerning faculty within the APRC members' respective academic department.

ii. APRC Charge

The APRC's purpose, in connection with its role in reviewing Faculty tenure, promotion and non-reappointment grievances, is expressly and exclusively directed and limited to review of the functioning of the academic process in issue, for a determination of whether there exists substantial process failure, resulting in capricious determination, or substantial procedural violation or discriminatory treatment by the university bodies so charged to render the academic and/or employment recommendation(s) or judgment(s) that serve as the subject of the grievance. The members of the APRC must reduce their collective findings to writing and failing consensus, each dissent therefrom must be expressed, in writing and available to the university, the Association and an arbitrator as selected pursuant to Agreement.

The APRC is also charged with reviewing merit appeals filed by Faculty and Lecturers. Its role in this regard is addressed separately, below, in the Sections of the Agreement addressing compensation, and/or in memoranda of agreement addressing merit pay.

iii. APRC Authority

The APRC's disposition, in connection with its role in reviewing Faculty tenure, promotion and non-reappointment grievances, is expressly limited to either dismissal of the grievance with prejudice or remand to academic process, where process failure is found, for reconsideration, in compliance with university policy, absent the process failure determined. Remand or Dismissal shall be unconditional. Recommendation may be made for disqualification, from remanded review, of an individual, group of individuals or entire APRC, if the APRC finds prejudice is unabateable upon remand, except that recommendation that the university President be disqualified in his/her role as Employer is prohibited.

iv. <u>Investigative Process</u>

The APRC shall be entitled to official minutes of deliberative meetings of the Department and University Promotion and Tenure APRC that pertain only to the grievant. Additionally, the APRC shall be entitled to that packet of material as submitted by the grievant for review in accordance with established procedures. The APRC may call pertinent witnesses from the recommending bodies, the Employer or others who the APRC has identifiable reason to believe hold information relevant to disposition. Disposition shall be in writing and noticed to the Employer and Association and shall be based upon majority determination. Under no circumstances shall the APRC substitute its judgment for the academic judgment rendered by the bodies/persons charged with making such judgments.

v. Advocacy

Within thirty (30) days after the filing of the grievance to Step Three, the grievant must submit a detailed statement to the APRC and the Employer setting forth the evidence (including a list of documents and a summary of testimony of proposed witnesses) which the grievant intends to submit in support of his/her grievance. Within twenty (20) days after the submission of the grievant's detailed statement, the Employer may submit a responsive statement to the APRC setting forth its evidence (including a list of documents and a summary of proposed witnesses) in opposition to the grievance. Within ten (10) days after receipt of the Employer's Statement, the APRC shall schedule one or more hearings at which evidence may be presented.

Representatives of the Employer and/or the Association may file written briefs and/or make oral argument in support of or in opposition to the grievance. Said advocacy shall not be denied if and when opted, and must be considered in final determination to the extent such advocacy is timely submitted and relevant to the issue before the APRC. Briefs must be submitted, to the APRC, within fourteen (14) days of the final hearing date, in duplicate. One (1) copy shall be transmitted to the opposing advocate when all briefs are in. Argument not made before the APRC is discouraged from appearing in the brief for the first time. Such argument may be excluded from consideration by the APRC. Submission of reply briefs shall generally be unavailable. However, upon request to the APRC, based upon argument not made theretofore, reply briefs shall not be unreasonably denied the advocates.

vi. Parameters on Remand

While the APRC is free to offer recommendation on improved process it shall not direct a schedule of compliance nor impose substantive or

procedural regulation of the outcome or the process, beyond that available as codified policy relative to reappointment, promotion and tenure. If on remand, a prior academic judgment is overturned and tenure and/or promotion and/or reappointment is awarded, a grievant shall be made whole by ensuring no contractually guaranteed salary at the rate paid for the new position (i.e., tenure and/or promotion and/or reappointment) at the time of the academic decision overturned is lost to the grievant. This is the only, exclusive restitution available to a grievant under this provision of the Agreement.

vii. APRC Deadlock

Should the APRC fail, following a total of one hundred and twenty (120) days for investigation and deliberation of the submitted grievance, to determine, through majority decision, the limited issue(s) before it, then and in that event, the parties shall stipulate the record before the APRC and present same to an arbitrator/mediator, selected by the parties or, failing agreement between the parties, by PERC for decision within the guidelines herein established. The arbitrator/mediator shall question the parties for purposes of clarification of the record, however, there will be no other further advocacy allowed. The mediator's/arbitrator's jurisdiction shall be limited to determination as to whether the record before him/her compels remand under the enabling provision; C., Faculty Tenure; Promotion; Non-Reappointment Grievances, 1.a. Grievance Process, supra.

viii. Decision Finality with Prejudice

Remand shall be available only once per academic process determination, based upon the same set of facts. A grievance claiming failed academic process, for the limited enabling reasons set out, supra, shall therefore, be heard but once, through to its conclusion as set out herein, unless the grievance is based upon an entirely different claim from that of original grievance and charges a new set of factual errors, omissions or misconduct not in existence at the time of the original grievance.

D. Notice Under This Article

1. Grievant

Notice to the grievant shall be deemed to have occurred upon actual receipt by grievant of such notice or five (5) days following posted mailing to the grievant's last known address, through the U.S. mail, whichever first occurs.

2. Employer

Notice to the Employer shall be deemed to have occurred upon actual receipt by the Employer's designated representative of such notice or, if mailed in the continental United States, five (5) days following posted mailing to the Employer's designated representative at the correct university address for such representative, through the U.S. mail, whichever first occurs. If not mailed in the continental United States, notice to the Employer shall only be deemed to have occurred upon actual receipt by the Employer's designated representative.

3. Association

Notice to the Association shall be deemed to have occurred upon actual receipt by the Association President or expressly authorized designee, of such notice or five (5) days following posted mailing to the Association President or expressly authorized designee at the last known address, through the U.S. mail, whichever first occurs.

4. Academic Process Review Committee

Notice to the APRC shall be deemed to have occurred upon actual receipt by the APRC, c/o Provost's Office, of such notice or if mailed in the Continental United States, five (5) days following posted mailing to the APRC, c/o Provost's Office, at the correct university address, through the U.S. mail, whichever first occurs. If not mailed in the continental United States, notice to the APRC shall only be deemed to have occurred upon actual receipt by the APRC.

5. Days

For purposes of timely filing and advancement of grievances only, unless otherwise expressly referenced herein, days shall refer to calendar days, excluding all university holidays and recesses (including summer recess) and all federal holidays whereby the U.S. Postal Department closes services.

ARTICLE VII – ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND RESPONSIBILITY

The purpose of this statement is to promote public understanding and support of academic freedom and agreement upon procedures to assure them in New Jersey Institute of Technology. Institutions of higher education are conducted for the common good and not to further the interest of either the individual teacher or the institution as a whole. The common good depends upon the free search for truth and its free exposition.

Institutions of higher education are committed to the solution of problems and controversies by the method of rational discussion. Acts of physical force or disruptive acts which interfere with the university activities, freedom of movement on the campus, or freedom for students to pursue their studies are the antitheses of academic freedom and responsibility as are

acts which in effect deny freedom of speech, freedom to be heard, and freedom to pursue research of their own choosing to members of the academic community or to invited visitors to that community.

Academic freedom is the right of scholars in institutions of higher education freely to study, discuss, investigate, teach and publish.

Academic freedom applies to both teaching and research. Freedom in research is fundamental to the advancement of truth. Academic freedom in its teaching aspect is fundamental for the protection of the rights of the teacher in teaching and of the student to freedom in learning. It carries with it duties correlative with rights.

A. Academic Freedom

- 1. The teacher is entitled to full freedom in research and in the publication of the results, subject to the adequate performance of his/her other academic duties; but research for the pecuniary return should be based upon an understanding with the authorities of the Institution.
- 2. The teacher is entitled to freedom in the classroom in discussing his/her subject, but he/she should be careful to present the various scholarly views related to his/her subject and avoid presenting totally unrelated material. Limitations of academic freedom because of religious or other aims of the institution should be clearly stated in writing at the time of the appointment.

B. Academic Responsibility

The concept of freedom should be accompanied by an equally demanding concept of responsibility. The college or university teacher is a citizen, a member of a learned profession, and an officer of an educational institution. When he/she speaks or writes as a citizen, he/she should be free from institutional censorship or discipline, but his/her special position in the community imposes special obligations. As a person of learning and an educational officer, he/she should remember that the public may judge his/her profession and his/her institution by his/her utterances and should make every effort to indicate that he/she is not an institutional spokesperson.

ARTICLE VIII – SICK TIME AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. Sick Leave

1. Accrual

New employees shall earn one (1) working day or seven (7) hours per calendar month to the end of the fiscal year. Thereafter, employees employed on a 12 month basis shall earn

1-1/4 working days or 8.75 hours or which is equivalent to fifteen (15) working days (105 hours) per full fiscal year thereafter. Employees with annual appointments of less than 12-months shall earn and be entitled to prorated, sick leave annual benefits. For example, Instructional Staff members (Faculty and Lecturers) with 10 month appointments, shall earn sick time during the ten (10) months when they are normally on payroll, which is equivalent to 12.5 days of sick leave (87.5 hours) per full fiscal year.

2. Use of Sick Leave

- a. Sick leave may be used by employees when they are unable to perform their work by reason of personal illness, injury or exposure to contagious disease or for the emergency attendance of the employee upon a member of the immediate family (father, mother, spouse, child, foster child, sister, brother, grandmother, grandfather, or relative residing in the same household) who is seriously ill, or whose spouse is hospitalized due to pregnancy. Sick leave may also be used for dental, optical or medical examination or treatment.
 - i. Use of sick leave for spousal care shall include those persons residing in the same household as the eligible employee and continuously living in a proven, singular spousal relationship with the eligible employee. The Employer is entitled to reasonable proof of such relationship prior to sick leave entitlement.
 - ii. Unless otherwise authorized under the provisions of the university's Family and Medical Leave Policy, emergency attendance on a member of the immediate family shall be limited to a maximum of fifteen (15) days per enabling occurrence. Exceptions to this limitation may be authorized only by the Vice President of Human Resources or his/her designee.
- b. Accumulated sick leave may be used to grieve the death and/or attend the funeral of the employee's immediate family; father, mother, spouse, child, foster child, sister or brother of employee and relatives of employees residing in the same household as employee. Leave used for bereavement shall be limited to three (3) days per occurrence unless exception for extraordinary reason is made by and at the discretion of the Vice President of Human Resources or his/her designee.
- c. All unused sick leave may be accrued with no maximum limit.
- d. Medical validation of the need for sick leave will be required when there is specific evidence of abuse of the leave and/or when the leave exceeds five (5) consecutive days or a total of ten (10) days within the fiscal year, as more fully detailed below.
- e. Sick leave benefits are not available, shall not accrue, nor shall there be any payment in lieu thereof, while any Professional Staff member is in unpaid employment status with the university. Further, in order to use a banked sick leave

day, the Professional Staff member must be in paid employment status at least one day prior to the sick leave benefit sought.

f. Employees whose sick accrual is prorated in accordance with Article VII.A.1, above, will not be charged sick days during periods when they are not normally on payroll.

3. Authorization

a. Anticipated Leave

Any proper usage of sick leave anticipated in advance must be requested as far in advance as practicable and approved by the employee's immediate supervisor prior to usage. Approval will not be unreasonably denied. Examples of anticipated leave, by way of illustration but not limitation, include physician appointments, dentist appointments, scheduled surgery and short-term care for an ill member of the immediate family. Within a reasonable period of time following use of sick leave for this purpose the employee upon request by the Employer must validate the reason for scheduled leave by means of written proof that the scheduled purpose for the sick leave did occur.

b. Unanticipated Leave

Use of sick leave that cannot be anticipated in advance, such as sudden illness, must be validated by contacting, as soon as possible and, to the extent possible, within one-half (1/2) hour after the beginning of the employee's scheduled workday, the employee's supervisor or by following such procedure specifically directed by the employee's supervisor to notify the Employer of unanticipated sick leave.

4. Validation

- a. In accordance with State and Federal regulations, the Employer may preliminarily designate an employee who has been absent for three (3) or more consecutive days or who has exhausted his/her earned sick leave banks on Family Leave, pending medical certification. Family Leave may at the option of the Employer run concurrently with sick leave usage.
- b. Long term absences for sick leave that exceed the 60 days of Family Leave may be taken thereafter utilizing accumulated sick leave balances, upon submission of medical certification updates to be provided in intervals of not less than every 30 days.
- c. If absent for five (5) or more consecutive working days, the employee must present a physician's statement specifically validating the duration and nature of illness or injury enabling sick leave usage. An employee absent for unanticipated sick leave for any and all periods totaling more than ten (10) days in one (1) fiscal year may be

required to submit a physician's statement validating the duration and nature of illness enabling sick leave usage.

- d. The employer may investigate cases where there is reasonable suspicion of abuse or patterned absenteeism. If justified, and regardless of the threshold absences set forth in (c) above, the Employer may, upon advance notice to the employee, require medical certification for any future use of sick leave for a period not to exceed one year.
- e. Sick leave taken for purposes of Bereavement, pursuant to provision A.2.b. above, shall not be counted for purposes of either the five (5) or ten (10) day validation requirement. The Employer may request that Bereavement leave be validated through independent written documentation.
- f. Upon receipt of a specific diagnostic statement from a physician describing a chronic, debilitating illness of an employee, the five (5) and ten (10) day validation requirement shall be waived as a matter of regular course, however, upon reasonable suspicion of abuse following fifteen (15) days usage of sick leave during fiscal year the Employer, the Union and Employee shall meet for the purpose of either investigating potential abuse and/or to discuss the absenteeism in attempt to avoid disciplinary action. In any event, an employee suffering from a certified chronic illness must at least once every six (6) months provide the Employer with medical recertification and following fifteen (15) days usage in a fiscal year on account of sail illness, provide additional recertification of the chronic illness.

5. Confidentiality of Records

All medical reports and diagnosis provided pursuant to this Article shall remain confidential with the Department of Human Resources and the Office of General Counsel only.

6. Unused Sick Leave - Retirement

Subject to the provision of N.J.S.A. 11A:6-17 and rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, a full time member of the professional staff or faculty member for the period of time in which they officially served in an administrative capacity pursuant to the provisions of a State administered or approved retirement system, and has to his/her credit any earned and unused accumulated sick leave accrued during service in an administrative capacity shall be entitled to receive supplemental compensation for such earned and unused accumulated sick leave only to the extent such is funded by the State.

The supplemental compensation to be paid shall be computed at the rate of one-half (1/2) of the eligible employee's daily rate of pay for each day of earned and unused accumulated sick leave based upon the average annual compensation received during the last year of his employment prior to the effective date of his/her retirement, provided, however, that no such supplemental compensation payment shall exceed the statutory limit. This

supplemental compensation shall be paid in a lump sum after the effective date of retirement. It may be deferred by the employee for payment within one (1) year of the effective date of retirement.

B. Family Leave

The university maintains a Family Leave Policy that complies with the requirements of Federal and New Jersey law, and such policy is available to employees on its web site at http://www.njit.edu/policies/sites/policies/files/lcms/pdf/Family_Leave_Policy.pdf. In the event that the university intends to amend the policy with regard to negotiable terms and conditions, it shall provide the PSA notification of the proposed changes. If the changes are required by changes in extant Federal or State law or regulation, the university may amend the policy accordingly, but shall notify the PSA in advance of any such amendments. In the event that the PSA demands negotiations concerning proposed changes, it shall do so in writing within sixty (60) days, to the Vice President of Human Resources, with a copy to the General Counsel, in which case the parties will proceed with good faith negotiations concerning the proposed changes, consistent with their rights and obligations under law. If the university receives no written demand by the PSA for negotiations within such time, the University may proceed to implement such changes.

C. Other Leaves of Absence

1. Eligibility

- a. Any employee who is not entitled to or has exhausted other leave benefits may apply for an unpaid leave of absence for a specific period of time, and for a specific purpose.
- b. No employee who is entitled to leave under the New Jersey Family Leave Act or the Federal Family Leave Act shall be denied the right to use any period of leave required under these laws using the procedures set forth in the laws and applicable regulations.

2. Procedure

- a. All applications for an unpaid leave of absence shall be made in writing. The application shall include a specific statement of the reasons for the leave request, the date on which the leave is requested to begin and the date the leave is requested to end. All requests for unpaid leave of absence shall be made on a timely basis.
- b. Application for leave by Professional Staff Members must be submitted to the employee's immediate supervisor. Application for leave by Faculty or Instructional Staff Members shall be made to the Provost with a copy sent to the individual's Department Chairperson (or Dean where there is no Chairperson). In the event that the reason for the leave requires confidentiality, the employee may submit the application directly to the Department of Human Resources instead of the immediate supervisor, the Provost or their Chairperson/Dean. In that case, the employee shall inform the individual to whom the request would otherwise have been submitted, in

- writing, that an application has been submitted to Human Resources and shall specify the beginning and ending dates for the leave as requested on the application.
- c. Except where an emergency requires a quicker response, the Employer shall act on the application for an unpaid leave within two (2) weeks from the date of the application and shall provide the employee with its decision in writing. If the request is denied in whole or in part, the reasons for the denial shall be set forth as part of the written decision. Extensions of approved leaves may be requested using the same procedures.
- d. Denial of a request under this Article is grievable only on the limited basis that the Employer had no rational basis for its action.
- e. Any problems arising from the administration of this Article may be referred to the Labor/Management forum for discussion and resolution, if possible.

3. Additional Procedures Applicable to Faculty and Instructional Staff

- a. Leaves for Faculty or Instructional Staff Members will normally be for a period of one academic year.
- b. All leave time shall be credited to the Faculty or Instructional Staff Member's years of service, and such leave time shall not constitute an interruption of continuity of service. The leave period shall not count as a normal period of employment as to eligibility for promotion, tenure or the attainment of contract expectancy. Accumulated seniority to the extent accrued under this Agreement shall be maintained and reinstated upon reinstatement from the leave.
- c. There shall be no benefits bank accrual during any period of unpaid leave under this Article. There shall be no monetary contribution by the Employer on behalf of the employee during any period of unpaid leave, except as may be mandated by law or otherwise expressly provided for by this agreement. Health care benefits during the period of unpaid leave shall not be paid by the Employer, but may be maintained at the Employee's own expense.
- d. The returning Faculty or Instructional Staff Member will be returned to the same salary they were receiving before they began their leaves, and in addition shall be entitled to any general salary increases that may have taken place during the intervening period.
- e. The acceptance of a paid position or contracting for compensated services with another employer while on a leave of absence will not affect the provisions of the leave of absence.

4. Reinstatement / Implications Applicable to Professional Staff Members

- a. The reinstatement provisions set forth herein shall not be unreasonably applied by the Employer nor abused by the employee.
- b. An employee who is ready and able to return after completion of a short-term leave of a total duration of ninety (90) consecutive calendar days or less shall be returned to his/her former position or an equivalent position with equivalent pay and fringe benefits including retirement system benefits.
- c. The Employer will make every reasonable effort to reinstate an employee who is ready and able to return to work after completion of a long-term leave of a total duration of ninety-one (91) consecutive calendar days or more to his/her former position or a comparable position. Except where otherwise required by law, there is no entitlement to a particular position with the Employer following a long-term leave of absence.
- d. If at the employee's scheduled return to work, the Employer reasonably determines that reinstatement will jeopardize the health and safety of the employee, other employees or the students, and provides the employee with a statement of the basis for its determination, the Employer may require that the employee submit a certification from a licensed professional (doctor, psychologist or other appropriate specialty) attesting to the employee's fitness prior to permitting the employee to resume work. The Employer may also require examination and certification of the employee for return to work by a physician of its choosing and its own expense prior to reinstatement.
- e. There shall be no benefits bank accrual during any period of unpaid leave under this Article. There shall be no monetary contribution by the Employer on behalf of the employee during any period of unpaid leave, except as may be mandated by law or otherwise expressly provided for by this agreement. Accumulated seniority to the extent accrued under this Agreement shall be maintained and reinstated upon reinstatement from the leave.
- f. Accepting employment with another employer while on a leave of absence will result in the forfeiture of the leave and all associated benefits and will result in the immediate termination of university employment, unless such other employment was expressly understood as part of the reason for the leave and approved in advance by the Employer.

D. Active-Service Modified-Duties Policy for Tenured and Tenure Track Faculty

NJIT is committed to providing policies and resources to facilitate the opportunity for faculty to strike an appropriate balance between academic and family life. Often, leave policies find their origins in the illness of an employee, the desire to take a leave of absence without pay, or the Family Medical Leave Act but do not adequately address the unique circumstances of the

birth or adoption of a child by tenured or tenure-track faculty. Career demands can place faculty members beginning a family, particularly women faculty, at a potential disadvantage with respect to their peers. No one should be in a position to have to choose between family and profession. Consequently, it is important to have special policies that address the birth or adoption of a child by a tenured or tenure-track faculty member as compared to leave policies that serve different purposes.

1. Eligibility

Following the event of an adoption or birth of a child by a tenured or tenure-track faculty member or their spouse, and if the primary caregiver is an NJIT tenured or tenure-track faculty member, he or she has the option of using the Active-Service Modified-Duties Policy. Under this policy, the faculty member is relieved of university service assignments and scheduled teaching (e.g., classroom) responsibilities for up to only one semester, without reduction in pay and with continuation of all rights and benefits of regular employment, as follows:

- a. If the birth or adoption takes place during Fall semester, the modified duties period can extend into the Spring Semester for a total of no more than one semester only.
- b. If the birth or adoption takes place in the Spring semester, the modified duties period can extend through that Spring semester only.
- c. If the birth or adoption takes place in the Summer before the start of Fall semester, the modified-duties period can extend through the Fall semester only.
- d. In addition, if the primary care giver is a tenure-track faculty member, the Tenure-Track Period (TTP) will be extended by one year, unless the Faculty member requests, in writing, that there be no such extension. An individual can only be on Active-Service Modified-Duties under this policy twice during his or her career at NJIT. During the Modified-Duties period, the primary care faculty member is expected to fulfill student research, advising, and other research responsibilities. The use of the Active-Service Modified-Duties Policy obligates the recipient to serve as a member of the university faculty for at least one year following the completion of the leave or to reimburse the university for all salary paid during the Active-Service Modified-Duties period.

<u>ARTICLE IX – PROFESSIONAL STAFF</u>

A. Employment Basis

A Professional Staff member who enters his or her fourth or fifth year of employment on their anniversary date between July 1, 1977 and July 1, 1978, and who thereafter continues working in, or is transferred into a position for which tenure is not available, shall complete a

probationary period of five (5) years from date of last hire and thereafter shall not be discharged except for just cause

All Professional Staff members who are newly hired shall serve a one (1) year probationary period, commencing from the date of hire. The probationary period for those who are reclassified into a bargaining unit position shall be no more than one year, further reduced by that period of time certified as working at the reclassified level of responsibility and accountability. Following the completion of their initial probationary period Staff members shall, during the next two full fiscal years, receive one (1) year contractual appointments. In addition, the following rules shall apply:

- 1. Following the end of the probationary period through the next two (2) consecutive, full, fiscal years of annual or multiyear contractual appointment, Professional Staff shall maintain just cause protection during the Employer determined, renewable, contractual term appointments, but shall maintain no employment rights beyond the expiration of the term(s).
- 2. Effective July 1, 2014, Professional Staff members who have completed their probationary period, and two (2) subsequent consecutive full fiscal years of service, shall, upon appointment to a fourth year, and commencing that fourth year of service, attain Just Cause Status. Professional Staff who have previously been appointed to a fourth year shall also, effective July 1, 2014, attain Just Cause Status. An employee with Just Cause Status shall maintain their employment at NJIT from year to year, and may only be terminated for just cause, except in the case of layoffs, in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Collective Agreement.
- 3. If a Professional Staff member with Just Cause Status is formally promoted into another Staff position in the bargaining unit, he/she enters into a one (1) year probationary period, after which, when successfully completed, Just Cause Status applies in the new position. The one (1) year probationary period may be waived.

If a Staff person, who has completed their probationary period but has not yet attained Just Cause Status, is formally promoted into another Staff position in the bargaining unit, they shall not be required to serve a probationary period in their new position.

Formal promotion is herein defined by the Department of Human Resources as a position with greater responsibility within the bargaining unit.

4. If a Staff person with Just Cause Status is assigned to serve in an Acting Capacity, pursuant to Article IX.J of the Collective Agreement, and returns to a PSA position, no new probationary period shall be served. If a Staff person without Just Cause Status is assigned to serve in an Acting Capacity, pursuant to Article IX.J of the Collective Agreement, and returns to their previous PSA position, they will, upon return to their previous position, revert immediately to their previous status, without loss of seniority or credit for time served towards attainment of Just Cause Status.

- 5. If a Staff person with Just Cause Status applies for a new or the same position in the same or a different department, he/she enters into a one (1) year probationary period after which, when successfully completed, Just Cause Status applies in the new position. The one year probationary period may be waived.
- 6. If the administration initiates a reclassification or a transfer into a different department/division no probationary period applies, and seniority credit towards attaining Just Cause Status is retained.
- 7. If the administration initiates reorganization which results in layoff of an employee with Just Cause Status, and the employee bumps into a new position, or is recalled to a new position after layoff, such employee shall serve a six (6) month probationary period after which Just Cause Status shall apply. In such cases, where the employee has not yet attained Just Cause Status, but has completed their probationary period in their previous position, upon completion of a six (6) month probationary period in the new position their seniority credit towards attaining Just Cause Status shall be restored. The six (6) month probationary periods under this provision may be waived.
- 8. The Employer shall provide the Association with written rationale for a reorganization based position deletion for any position holding "just cause" status. The content of this rationale shall not be grievable.
- 9. If a Staff person with Just Cause Status leaves a PSA-represented position to serve in another non-PSA-represented position at NJIT, and subsequently returns to a PSA-represented staff position he/she shall serve no more than an 18 month probation, after which time he or she will again attain Just Cause Status. Just Cause Status may be reinstated immediately upon rehire into a PSA-represented position, or after a period of less than 18 months.
- 10. The decision whether to waive the probationary period, or any portion of a probationary period, under Article IX.A.3, 5, 7 and 9, is a non-grievable discretionary decision. The PSA shall receive formal notification of any waivers given pursuant to these provisions.
- 11. Prior to July 1, 2014, the effective date of the new provisions governing Just Cause Status, any Staff who has attained a Contractual Expectation Interest, pursuant to the terms of the 2003-2007 Agreement as modified by the November 2009 Memorandum of Agreement, as the result of completing six (6) fill fiscal years of employment at NJIT from their date of hire, shall retain such an Interest. Effective July 1, 2014, Contractual Expectation Interest for Professional Staff members shall no longer exist under the Agreement.

Professional Staff members who have Just Cause Status prior to July 1, 2014, pursuant to the terms of the previous Agreement, based on the fact that they entered their fourth or fifth year of employment on their anniversary date between July 1, 1977 and July 1, 1978, shall retain such status prior to July 1, 2014, and thereafter.

- 12. Layoff due to fiscal based position deletion must be preceded by thirty (30) calendar days' notice or equivalent salary compensation paid in lieu of notice to the affected Professional Staff employee. Layoff due to reorganization based position deletion must be preceded by sixty (60) calendar days' notice or equivalent salary compensation paid in lieu of notice to the affected Professional Staff member. Discharge for just cause may occur at any time and the discharged employee shall only be entitled to that notice, if any notice, mandated by law.
- 13. A Professional Staff member without Just Cause Status shall be entitled to at least thirty (30) calendar days' notice of non-reappointment. In lieu of the thirty (30) calendar days' notice requirement, the Employer may, in its discretion, provide equivalent salary compensation to the employee, waive the notice requirement and release the employee from all employment responsibilities.

B. Hours of Work

- 1. The general business hours of university operations are Monday through Friday, from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.; if a summer schedule of Monday through Thursday is adopted, bargaining unit members shall be notified no later than April 1 of each calendar year. In that event, general business hours of university operations will be from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. for the duration of the period summer hours are observed.
- 2. For the purpose of University accounting, employees with exempt status under Fair Labor Standards Act are paid based on a 35 hour week. A full day of leave time used shall be debited as 7 hours and a half day of leave time used shall be debited as 3.5 hours. If the parties agree to a four day work week, a full day of leave time used shall be debited as 8.75 hours and a half day of leave time used shall be debited as 4.375 hours. The use of hours for university accounting purposes is not intended by NJIT to affect the exempt status of an employee or position under the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- 3. Release Time: Professional exempt staff are expected to work the equivalent of the hours of operation set forth in Paragraph 1, and certain positions carry the expectation of some evening or weekend work, in addition to the general hours of operation, as part of the job description. For example, certain periodic university functions occur at night or on weekends. Where work demands require employees to work substantially beyond regular business hours and beyond the defined expectations of the job, such employees may be afforded release time (time off without debit of leave banks) with the approval of both the employee's supervisor, and the appropriate Department or Division head.
- 4. Individual Flex-time Schedules: Individual flexible time reporting schedules deviating from the standard workday may be adopted, provided that they are consistent with business necessity and do not impair university operations. Such individual flex-time schedules either altering the starting and ending time, or reducing reporting from five days to four days must be agreed to by the employee and his/her supervisor and approved by the Vice President of Human Resources, who shall keep a record of all approved flexible time

arrangements for unit members. Such reporting structures must meet the following minimum standards:

- a. The schedule must accommodate NJIT's business interests in providing greater service to its constituencies.
- b. No flex-time schedule will be approved that reduces the minimum number of hours worked in the work week.
- c. The work week will consist of at least four (4) days, and will not be subject to further reduction in days during summer months.
- d. Where a choice of flexible hours cannot be made available to all employees within the same bargaining unit provisions, the most senior member of the unit will be given the right of first refusal on flexible scheduling, provided that such employee is in good standing.
- e. Flexible schedules may be ended, in the discretion of the university, upon two (2) weeks' minimum notice.
- f. It is expressly understood that no flex-time arrangement shall in any way alter the expectations outlined in the unit members' position description (except as may be required as a "reasonable accommodation" to a disability defined by State and Federal law). Further, it is understood that the granting of a flex-time arrangement shall not change situations where the employer, in its sole discretion, may extend the work hours of an employee as necessary.

C. Annual Evaluations:

Each Professional Staff member's supervisor must annually complete a written evaluation on or before September 1st and provide a copy to the employee. Within ten (10) working days after receipt of the written evaluation, each Professional Staff employee shall have an annual, performance based, evaluation conference with his/her supervisor. Both employee and supervisor must sign the evaluation which will then be placed in the employee's personnel file within five (5) working days of the meeting. There will be a standard evaluation format used. A sample of an evaluation form using this format is attached hereto as Appendix A. The employee may provide a written commentary, including rebuttal, concerning the evaluation and forward it to the Department of Human Resources where it will be placed in the employee's personnel file and become appended to the performance evaluation. The Association shall be granted timely access to all performance Evaluations completed for members of the Professional Staff, including but not limited to the PSA Staff Evaluation Form (Appendix A) and the PSA Staff Exceptional Performance Recommendation Form.

D. <u>Discipline</u>:

Discipline shall mean a verbal reprimand, written reprimand, a suspension without pay, a demotion, or discharge. Following the end of their probationary period, no Professional staff member may be disciplined except for just cause. Non-renewal of an employment contract of a Professional Staff member without Just Cause Status shall not be considered disciplinary and shall not be grievable, except for those members who maintain Contract Expectancy Status prior to July 1, 2014, in accordance with Article IX.A.11, above. Dismissal from employment or demotion based upon a layoff or operational changes made by the University shall not be construed as discipline.

Just cause for discipline, which is applicable to both contract employees and those with Just Cause Status, shall include but not be limited to violation of university rules, regulations, policies and procedures, poor/inadequate job performance, and job abandonment. This list of causes is not exclusive and discipline may be imposed for any cause or circumstances amounting to just cause. Progressive discipline need not be followed for serious misconduct.

E. Vacation Leave

1. Vacation Allotment:

Employees shall be granted an annual paid vacation for use in accordance with this provision on the following basis:

a. Professional Staff shall be entitled to a vacation earned at the rate of one and two thirds (1%) days per month of employment, from the date of hire, not to exceed twenty days per fiscal year, which for payroll purposes is accounted as one hundred and forty hours (140) per year on university records. Vacation leave is administered on a fiscal year calendar. The university's fiscal year is July 1st through June 30th of the following year.

2. Vacation Use:

- a. While use of vacation accrual is based upon mutual agreement of the Employer and the employee, full usage is both expected and encouraged in a properly scheduled manner, giving appropriate consideration, for workload issues. Vacation shall be scheduled and taken at a time and at intervals that are mutually agreeable to the employee and that employee's designated supervisor, except and only where superseding law and policy allow vacation to be unilaterally invoked by the employee (e.g. when taking Family Leave). It is therefore expected that vacation will be requested of that employee's supervisor well in advance of the desired use by an employee, where possible, so that the absence can be planned for and the regular work flow is minimally disrupted.
 - iii. It is expected that supervisors will maintain a fully updated vacation record, showing unused accrual and usage, and will take a proactive role in

scheduling vacation usage in a manner that is mutually beneficial to the university and its employees.

- iv. Vacation may be used in half days, full days, or consecutive days in a manner that permits operations flexibility and no significant disruption in university service.
- v. Nothing herein relative to hourly accrual of vacation time pursuant to university records shall be construed by NJIT to remove exempt status from those employees deemed exempt under law by virtue the nature of their employment duties.

3. Vacation Carryover:

a. Professional Staff shall be entitled to accrue and carry over into the next fiscal year up to a maximum of twenty-five (25) unused vacation days or one hundred seventy-five (175) hours remaining at the end of any fiscal year. Unused, accrued vacation over the maximum shall be forfeited at the beginning of the next fiscal year.

4. Vacation Payout:

Upon separation from employment, unused vacation accrual computed at the daily rate of the salary of the separating employee at the time of separation will be handled as follows:

No payout of accrued vacation leave is available for any bargaining unit member except that a bargaining unit member who separates from employment as a result to layoff, pursuant to Article IX (I)(2), will receive up to twenty days of pay (or 140 vacation hours) for unused vacation allotment. In the event that a bargaining unit members receives notification of non-reappointment to their contractual position, they may use up to twenty vacation days (or 140 hours) prior to their termination date, which days will be scheduled with the approval of their supervisor. In the event a bargaining unit member has more than twenty accumulated vacation days, he/she may use any additional vacation leave time, with the consent of their supervisor. In the event a bargaining unit member gives written notice of resignation or retirement, not less than two (2) weeks prior to the planned date of separation, he/she shall be permitted to use up to ten (10) days (or 70 hours), of accumulated but unused vacation time at any time prior to the date of separation.

F. Holidays

- 1. The Employer shall provide the following paid holidays to full-time Professional Staff members of the bargaining unit:
 - a. New Year's Day
 - b. Martin Luther King Jr. Day
 - c. Good Friday
 - d. Memorial Day

- e. Independence Day
- f. Labor Day
- g. Thanksgiving Day
- h. Friday after Thanksgiving Day
- i. Christmas Day
- 2. In the event any one (1) or more of the regular paid holidays above listed, falls on a Sunday, the holiday shall be observed on the following Monday. In the event any one (1) or more of the regular holidays above listed, falls on a Saturday, the holiday shall be observed on the immediately preceding Friday.
- 3. The four (4) regular week days falling between the Christmas and New Year's holidays shall be paid university holidays provided to all full-time Professional Staff members of the bargaining unit whose service and attendance is not deemed essential to university operations during this period.
 - a. Those bargaining unit members whose attendance is required during all or part of said period shall be provided one floating holiday for each day of service to the university, up to the maximum four (4) days provided by this provision. Rules for use of floating holidays shall be governed by those applicable to Administrative Leave, as provided under provision G. <u>Administrative Leave</u>, infra, of this Agreement.
 - b. Prerequisite to required attendance during this period shall be the provision of written notice to all affected bargaining unit members on or before December 1st of each year.
- 4. The nine (9) named holidays provided under provision F. 1., herein, and the other four (4) holidays provided under provision F., 3., herein, constitute the entire paid holiday schedule provided by the Employer.
- 5. It is expressly intended and understood that there are no additional paid days available to Professional Staff members of the bargaining unit, except as expressly provided by other provisions of this Agreement.
- 6. Professional Staff members of the bargaining unit on less than twelve (12) month annual contracts shall not be entitled to payment for holidays falling during a contractual break in employment.
- 7. The holiday benefits, provided herein, are not available, shall not accrue, nor shall there be any banking or payment in lieu of the provided holiday scheduled, while any Professional Staff member is in unpaid employment status with the university. Further, in order to receive each or any of the holiday benefits, herein provided, the administrator must be in paid employment status at least one (1) day prior to and one (1) day after the holiday benefit sought.

G. Administrative Leave

- 1. A newly hired Professional Staff member of the bargaining unit shall be entitled to one-half (½) day or three and ½ hours of administrative leave after each full calendar month of employment, to a maximum of three (3) full days or twenty-one (21) hours during his/her first fiscal year of full-time Professional Staff employment.
- 2. The Employer shall annually provide three (3) administrative leave days to all Professional Staff members of the bargaining unit on twelve (12) month contracts, upon entering their second or subsequent fiscal year of full-time Professional Staff employment.
- 3. Professional Staff members of the bargaining unit employed on less than a twelve (12) month basis shall be entitled to a prorated benefit adjusted to the proportion of the schedule they are normally scheduled to work, relative to a full time twelve month schedule.
- 4. Administrative leave days cannot accrue beyond three (3) at any time and cannot be carried over beyond the fiscal year in which they are provided, pursuant to this provision.
- 5. Administrative leave days are not available, cannot accrue, nor shall there be any payment in lieu thereof, while any Professional Staff member is in unpaid employment status with the university. Further, in order to use a banked administrative day, the Professional Staff member must be in paid employment status at least one (1) day prior to and one (1) day after the administrative leave benefit sought.
- 6. Requests for administrative leave must be requested and approved in advance, except in the case of emergencies, and will not be arbitrarily denied. Such leave may be used for religious observance or days of celebration, personal affairs, or emergencies. Priority in granting such requests shall be 1) emergencies; 2) religious observance or days of celebration; and 3) personal affairs.

H. Professional Staff Sabbatical Leave

- 1. Professional Staff members of the bargaining unit shall continue to be eligible for sabbatical leaves. The individual shall submit requests for such leave accompanied by a detailed proposal of sabbatical activity to his/her supervisor for recommendation and comment. The appropriate area Vice President shall either approve or disapprove all requests on the basis of the relevance of the proposal to the university and the ability to release the individual for the period of time requested. A rejection of a sabbatical application shall be in writing with the rationale for the rejection cited.
- 2. Decisions of the university relative to this provision shall not be grievable.

I. Seniority

1. Recognition

New Professional Staff bargaining unit members shall be entitled to seniority after completion of their Association based probationary period. Subject to the provisions of controlling Collective Bargaining Agreement, all Professional Staff starting from their second (2nd) consecutive annual employment contract in the same job classification, shall be entitled to seniority service credit, retroactive to the initial date of hire into said specific job classification. Service credit shall be computed and earned at the rate of one (1) day of service credit for each day in active employment status. Any period of authorized leave with pay afforded pursuant to Collective Bargaining Agreement, shall not cause a break in seniority credit computation. Professional Staff employees on less than a full twelve (12) month basis shall receive seniority service credit on a pro rata basis specific to their annual schedule

Except as expressly noted herein, seniority service credit in a new classification commences on the effective date of transfer. Seniority service credit in the former classification shall also continue to accrue after the transfer for a period of five (5) years. In the event of a transfer back to the former classification within the five (5) year period, the employee shall be credited with all accrued seniority in that position. In the event of a transfer back to the former classification after the five (5) year period, the employee will not be entitled to accrued seniority service credit in the former position. Seniority service credit shall not be broken by reclassification of a position held by an incumbent. Seniority service credit shall be deleted upon loss of employment for any other reason whatsoever.

Seniority recognition and its effect, in no way alters the contractual basis of employment for Professional Staff who have not yet attained Just Cause Status. Neither does it alter the probationary status of employees in their first year of employment in a bargaining unit position except as specifically set out under provision 2. <u>Layoff</u>, and provision 3, <u>Recall</u>, infra.

2. Layoff

If and when a reduction or reorganization in the workforce is necessary, following at least thirty (30) calendar days' notice, for fiscal necessity based layoffs inclusive of opportunity for the Group Review Committee to respond and sixty (60) calendar days' notice for reorganization based layoffs, layoff shall occur through deletion of Professional Staff position(s) as determined by the Employer.

Within seven (7) calendar days of the receipt of official written notice of layoff due to a reduction or reorganization in the workforce, a university funded employee shall be specifically permitted to submit, in writing, application for and then receive good faith review of up to five (5) continuing positions whose incumbents are university funded and hold the least seniority in the same generic position classification from which the laid off employee holds greater seniority. Employees who have completed three full years of

service in (a) the same grant-funded position; or (b) different associated-represented positions under the same grant funding source, are eligible to participate in the bumping process outlined herein. Employees who have not completed three full years of service as outlined above do not have bumping rights, regardless of the length of other university funded employment.

The Employer shall consider all requests to bump in order of seniority service of the applicant. The Employer shall determine whether the applicant is qualified to bump the least senior employee in the positions applied for. If the Employer determines that the applicant is not qualified to bump in that position, the Employer shall determine whether the applicant is qualified to bump the next least senior employee in the positions applied for. This process shall continue until the applicant is deemed qualified for a bump or all five (5) positions have been considered.

If the displaced employee is determined to hold the qualifications for the position reviewed, the employee shall be permitted to exercise his/her seniority rights to displace an employee with less seniority in the generic job classification for which the employee currently holds seniority or for which the employee holds seniority service credit accumulation, in the job classification from which a position was held immediately prior to the current job classification from which the employee is being laid off. Displacement is potentially available only for and within the following two (2) groupings:

- a. Assistant Director, Administrative Assistant I, Assistant to Dean, Assistant to Director, Assistant to Chair, Assistant to Sponsored Chair, Program or Function Coordinator or Manager.
- b. Professional Service Librarian (excluding Head Librarian) professional specialists within the specific specialty area.

The Employer retains its right to determine whether an employee possesses the qualifications to fill the position into which he/she seeks to bump. Qualification determination shall be based upon the qualifications set out by the position description, as may be amended from time to time, as matched with the bumping applicant's qualifications and performance record. Consideration of performance as negatively affecting qualifications herein, shall be restricted to a formal performance record that is officially, and in writing, less than satisfactory overall or a performance record evidencing active disciplinary status. Within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of notification that a bumping applicant is not qualified for a position sought, the Association may submit a written request for review to the Position Review Committee. The Position Review Committee shall issue its recommendation to the Vice President of Human Resources or his/her designee, not later than seven (7) calendar days after submission by the Association. The Vice President of Human Resources or his/her designee, shall, in good faith consider recommendation(s) made pursuant hereto, prior to final determination. The determination by the Vice President of Human Resources or his/her designee is final and binding on the issue of the right to bump the position in issue.

The Position Review Committee of three (3) serve one (1) year terms to end on June 30th of each year and shall review all bumping applicants submitted by the Association to it. It shall be selected as follows:

- a. Two (2) members are to be selected by the Association.
- b. One (1) member to be selected by the Employer.
- c. Members may be from among the university's entire employment pool.

An applicant who is successful at bumping into a new position shall be required to complete a new six (6) month probationary period. This probationary period may be waived for employees with Just Cause Status. A decision to waive all or part of the probationary period is a non-grievable discretionary decision. The probationary period attendant to a successful bumping applicant or to an employee recalled to a position other than the same position from which laid off (See "Recall", infra) shall be limited to performance concerns. In any event, except as expressed and limited by this provision only, infra, dismissal during a probationary period is not grievable. A successful bumping shall mandate that the probationary employee be given the first ninety (90) days of probationary appointment to assimilate departmentally specific knowledge while performing in the new job and therefore a successful bumping applicant shall not be dismissed from employment during the first ninety (90) days of his/her probationary contract of employment, unless there is, at least, an expressed rational basis related to poor performance, in which case the Association may grieve only the existence of a rational basis for dismissal during this period.

A successful bumping by an employee without Just Cause Status shall result in a probationary contract of employment to expire at the end of the fiscal year in which the bumping occurs. A successor contract of employment prior to the end of a probationary period in no way modifies that probationary period. If the employee would be eligible for Just Cause Status upon commencement of a new fiscal year contract, however, but for the need to complete the six (6) month probationary period, they will attain such Status upon completion of the probationary period, in accordance with the provisions of Article IX.A.7, notwithstanding the fact there may be an annual contract in effect on the date that the probationary period is completed.

Any bumping which results in displacement of an employee in a higher salary classification shall result in the successful bumping applicant receiving the step on the new range closest to his/her salary step on the previous range.

In addition, a Professional Staff Member who is laid off shall have a right to apply for and be considered for placement in vacant bargaining unit positions for which they are qualified, if they request such consideration within a reasonable time following their layoff.

Whether a Professional Staff Member is qualified for any specific vacancy shall be determined by Human Resources and the Hiring Manager. If they are deemed not to be

qualified they will receive a written rationale for this determination. This determination is not subject to challenge through the grievance procedure.

Any laid off Professional Staff Member placed into a vacant position shall serve a six (6) month probationary period in that position.

Except as specified in the provisions of Article IX.I.2 governing laid off members applying for vacant position, these provisions shall not alter bumping rights that Professional Staff Members have pursuant to this Article, e.g., a request to be considered for an open position (or positions) will not count towards the five (5) positions that a laid off Professional Staff Member may designate as positions that they wish to be considered for in connection with their *bumping* rights.

3. Recall

In the event that the Employer revives the same position which was deleted within eighteen (18) calendar months from the date of the layoff, the employee on layoff from that position shall be entitled to recall. No new probationary period shall be required. An employee without Just Cause Status recalled under this provision shall be entitled to an employment contract to expire at the end of the fiscal year in which recalled. An employee who previously had Just Cause Status who is recalled under this provision shall be entitled to an immediate resumption of that Status.

In the event that any positions become available within a period of eighteen (18) calendar months from the effective date of layoff, employees shall be entitled to recall to a job opening from the generic job classification from which laid off, if it is determined, in the same manner as applies to successful bumping, that the employee holds the requisite qualifications for the position. An employee recalled to such position classification other than to his/her former position shall serve a six (6) month probationary period as outlined under provision 2. "Layoff", supra, except that there shall be no grievable issue under any circumstances whatsoever during said probationary period. This probationary period may be waived for employees with Just Cause Status. A decision to waive all or part of the probationary period is a non-grievable discretionary decision. An employee without Just Cause Status recalled under this provision shall be entitled to a probationary contract of employment to expire at the end of the fiscal year in which recalled. A successor contract of employment prior to the end of a probationary period in no way modifies that probationary period. If, however, the recalled employee would be eligible for Just Cause Status upon commencement of a new fiscal year contract, but for the need to complete the six (6) month probationary period, they will attain such Status upon completion of the probationary period, in accordance with the provisions of Article IX.A.7, notwithstanding the fact there may be an annual contract in effect on the date that the probationary period is completed.

Once contacted for recall, an employee must accept the proffered position within one (1) week of offer or apply for recall review within one (1) week of contact by the Employer,

as the recall situation may be, or said employee shall be removed from the recall roster and all rights secured pursuant hereto shall be immediately extinguished.

A recalled employee must fully return to a recalled position within one (1) month from date of offered recall or said employee shall be removed from the recall roster and all rights secured pursuant hereto shall be immediately extinguished.

Notice activating the recall response and/or return timeliness shall be considered the earlier of actual verified receipt of notice via telephone or in person or, alternatively, five (5) days following certified and regular posted mailing to the employee's last known address.

Employees on recall roster who are otherwise employed at NJIT or who refuse the proffered recall shall be removed from the recall roster and all rights to recall under this Agreement shall be immediately extinguished.

Employees who are on layoff are not entitled to have or and do not accrue any rights or benefits at NJIT, except the right to recall provided herein and any rights mandated by law.

J. Acting Capacity

When an employee is temporarily, formally assigned to work in a higher job classification specifically encompassing all responsibilities and accountability inherent therein, for a period of more than ten (10) successive work days, due to the absence of the incumbent in such classification, the employee so working shall receive compensation at the rate of the higher job, retroactive to formal appointment, unless the job description of the formally assigned subject employee's job specifically includes, in its description of responsibilities the duty to act in behalf of or in the stead of the absent incumbent in which case the waiting period shall be thirty (30) successive work days and payment shall be prospective only.

K. Meal Reimbursement

When a Professional Staff member of the bargaining unit is unexpectedly required or previously scheduled to remain a minimum of two and one-half (2 ½) hours beyond a regular Professional Staff business day unique to the Professional Staff position in issue, upon providing a receipt for purchase of food stuffs, other than alcoholic beverages, for the day in issue, NJIT shall reimburse the Professional Staff member the cost, up to a maximum of Seven dollars and fifty cents (\$7.50) per eligible day, for the meal. The receipt must be verified by the supervisor of the requesting Professional Staff member as to the directed additional time.

L. Anniversary Date

Professional Staff members' anniversary date, for purposes of annually tied compensation adjustments, shall correspond with the university's fiscal year (July 1st). Professional Staff members in their first year of Association represented employment commencing on or after July 1st and on or before December 31st shall receive anniversary based compensation adjustments

beginning the following July 1st. Professional Staff members commencing Association represented employment on or after January 1st and on or before June 30th shall receive anniversary based compensation adjustments beginning with the start of the fiscal year immediately succeeding the following July 1st

M. Resident Life Staff Parking

Professional Staff members who are employed full-time, on either ten (10) or twelve (12) month residential life employment contracts that include necessary residence on university premises, will be provided with parking privileges at no cost. This privilege is not transferable.

N. Compensation

1. For all four (4) years of the Agreement all increases in salary shall be based on the Compensation Program as set forth below. The salary pooling percentage for each year shall be calculated as follows, on July 1st of the applicable year of the increase:

Fiscal Year 2016 - Year 1 - 2% of eligible² Professional Staff salary base

Fiscal Year 2017 - Year 2 - 3% of eligible Professional Staff salary base

Fiscal Year 2018 - Year 3 – 1.75% of eligible Professional Staff salary base

Fiscal Year 2019 - Year 4 – 1.75% of eligible Professional Staff salary base

The effective dates for salary increases are as follows:

Year 1: July 1, 2015 Year 2: July 1, 2016 Year 3: July 1, 2017 Year 4: July 1, 2018

- 2. The applicable salary matrix shall be as set forth in Appendix B. Salary minimums shall be increased by 4.5% at the beginning of Year 3 of the Agreement. Salary maximums shall be increased, effective at the beginning of each year of the Agreement, by the pooling percentage: Year 1 by 2%, Year 2 by 3%, Year 3 by 1.75% and Year 4 by 1.75%. This salary matrix range shall apply to all 4 years of the Agreement. Individual salary increases above the applicable range shall be paid in cash. All staff members will be paid no less than the then-existing minimum rate for their position commencing on their date of hire.
- 3. For purposes of determining individual salary increases, all Professional Staff Members will be evaluated using the Professional Staff Evaluation Form attached as Appendix A. In addition, a form entitled "PSA Staff Exceptional Performance Recommendation Form," (Attached as Appendix C), will be used.

² Eligibility is defined in Article XVII.C.

- 4. Each Year of the Agreement a portion of the compensation pool shall be used to reward performance in the category of "Exceptional", and up to 20% of the eligible professional staff population at each Vice President level may qualify for such awards. Those placed in this category shall be those with the highest level of documented performance in comparison with their peers during the year of review.
- 5. In each year, those placed in the "Does Not Meet Expectations" category, but no more than 4% of the total Professional Staff Members in the bargaining unit, shall receive no award.
- 6. Each year the remaining balance of the pool funds, after "Exceptional" awards are determined, shall be used to grant a fixed percentage award to those in the "Meets Jobs Requirements" category.
- 7. In Year 1 of the Agreement the percentage award for the "Exceptional" category will be 2.86%. In Year 2 it will be 4.29%. In Years 3 and 4 it will be 2.5%.
- 8. In Year 3, evaluations should be given to the employee no later than September 1, 2017, and awards should be finalized and increases distributed no later than the first full pay period in December of 2017. In Year 4, evaluations should be given to the employee no later than September 1, 2018, and awards should be finalized and increases distributed no later than the first full pay period in December of 2018. If all evaluations for Professional Staff members in any Vice Presidential area are not given to the employees by the September 1st deadline for the year in question (with the exception of circumstances where the fact that an employee is on sick leave or family medical leave makes it unreasonably difficult to complete their evaluation by this date) the merit program will not be implemented in that area and all Professional Staff members in that area shall receive across-the-board increases of 1.75%. If awards are not finalized and distributed for all Professional Staff members at NJIT by the first full pay period in December of the year in question, then the merit program will not be implemented in any Vice Presidential area, and all Professional Staff members shall receive across-the-board increases of 1.75%. In such event, however, the evaluations shall remain effective for other purposes subject to any rights to challenge such evaluations that employees may have under the Agreement.

These deadlines shall not apply in extraordinary circumstances beyond the control of the parties, which could not be reasonably foreseen and which renders the administration unable to meet its obligations, which may include, depending on the scope and length of the incident, "acts of God" such as, riots, exceptional weather conditions causing the closure of the university (hurricanes, floods, earthquakes), explosions, accidents, computer outages, strikes, chemical contamination, acts of governmental authorities, and the like. In such event, the parties will work in good faith to establish reasonable extensions to the timelines in order to complete the contractual obligations in a timely manner.

9. A list of those receiving "Exceptional" Awards and supporting written documentation shall be provided to the PSA.

O. <u>Professional Staff Merit Appeal Process</u>

1. Any Professional Staff Member not awarded an increase for any given year may file an appeal. In addition, any Professional Staff Member placed in the "Meets Job Requirement" category shall have the right to file an appeal, but such merit appeals may be filed for no more than 10% of staff falling into the "Meets Job Requirement" category. If more than 10% want to file appeals the PSA will determine which appeals will proceed.

2. Grounds for a merit appeal shall be:

- a. A material violation of the Merit Procedure which impacts the award, and/or;
- b. A material factual inconsistency with the record which impacts the award.
- 3. Individual appeals should set forth the specific bases on which the appeal is being filed, and must be filed no later than 25 days following the date on which the University mails formal notification of an award, or the failure to receive an award. The University will retain proof of mailing to each staff member's last known address, and will provide electronic notification of the award to Professional Staff Members and the PSA on or before the date it is mailed. Days shall be defined in accordance with the definition in Article VI of the Agreement.
- 4. In order to prevail on an appeal an individual Professional Staff Member will have to establish that an appealable violation, as defined above, occurred, by a preponderance of the evidence.
- 5. Successful appeals, or any awards which result from the settlement of appeals, shall be deducted from the next available pool fund, however the amount deducted from the next available pool shall not exceed the annual value of any increase resulting from a successful appeal or settlement. Said deductible amount shall be calculated by the Department of Human Resources and transmitted to the PSA for the year in question.
- 6. The exclusive avenue for the review of individual awards shall be through the appeal process as referenced herein. Further, individual awards shall not be subject to the grievance/arbitration provisions of the Agreement.
- 7. Initially all appeals must be considered by the divisional Vice President in consultation with the supervisor(s) who may grant or deny the petition within 14 days (as defined in Article VI) of the appeal being filed. If the appeal is granted or otherwise resolved, any additional award shall be deducted from the next available performance pool fund, however the amount deducted from the next available pool shall not exceed the annual value of any increase resulting from a successful appeal or settlement. Said deductible amount shall be calculated by the Department of Human Resources and transmitted to the PSA for the year in question.

- 8. If the appeal is not granted, or otherwise resolved, within 14 days (as defined by Article VI) of when it was filed, and the individual wishes to pursue an appeal, it shall be handled in accordance with the following process.
 - a. Such individual will file a notice of intent to pursue the appeal within 14 days (as defined by Article VI) of when they receive notice that the appeal below was not granted. A Professional Staff Merit Appeals Committee shall be established to hear Professional Staff Merit appeals. The Appeals Committee shall consist of two (2) members chosen by the administration and two (2) members chosen by the Association. It shall make decisions, by majority vote, on the basis of the provisions of Article IX.N.
 - b. In cases where the Committee is deadlocked, the Association may, at its discretion, elect to pursue the matter to binding arbitration. In cases which are brought to arbitration the cost for the arbitrator shall be divided equally between the University and the Association. The parties shall select an arbitrator to hear all appeals advanced to arbitration by the Association.

ARTICLE X – TENURED AND TENURE TRACK FACULTY

A. Notice of Non-Reappointment

The following time standards shall be applied by the Employer for written notification of non-reappointment to non-tenured members of the tenure-track faculty:

- 1. Not later than March 1st during the first year of service shall a tenure-track faculty member be notified of non-reappointment at the completion of that first academic year.
- 2. Not later than January 15th during the second year of service shall a tenure-track faculty member be notified of non-reappointment at the completion of that academic year.
- 3. Not later than June 30th during the third, fourth or, fifth year of service shall a tenure-track faculty member be notified of non-reappointment in which event he/she shall receive a terminal contract ending the subsequent academic year.

B. <u>Compensation Plan for Tenured and Tenure-Track Faculty other than Academic Administrators</u>

- 1. Salaries for Twelve-month faculty appointments shall be arrived at by adjusting the academic year salaries by fifteen Percent (15%) for the duration of a Twelve-month appointment.
- 2. The salary pooling percentage for each year of the Agreement shall be calculated as follows, on July 1st of the applicable year of the increase:³

Fiscal Year 2016 - Year 1 - 2% of the eligible faculty salary base

_

³ Eligibility is defined in Article XVII.C.

```
Fiscal Year 2017 - Year 2 -3% of the eligible faculty salary base Fiscal Year 2018 - Year 3 - 1.75\% of the eligible faculty salary base Fiscal Year 2019 - Year 4 - 1.75\% of the eligible faculty salary base
```

The effective dates for salary increases are as follows:

Year 1: July 1, 2015 Year 2: July 1, 2016 Year 3: July 1, 2017 Year 4: July 1, 2018

- 3. For the duration of the Agreement there will be no salary caps. Salary minima are set forth in Appendix D
- 4. In year 1 and 2 of the Agreement 90% of the salary pool shall be distributed in equal amounts as across-the-board increases to all faculty who are eligible for an increase and in active employment as of the date of the ratification of this Agreement. The remaining 10% of the pool shall be designated as merit pay, and distributed at the discretion of the Provost, based on recommendations from the Chairs and Deans. No one shall receive a total salary increase of more than 1.5 times the average merit pool award.
- 5. The parties will make a good faith effort to negotiate a new merit program for Faculty Members in time for it to be implemented in Year 3 of the Agreement. A sub-committee consisting of two (2) members appointed by the PSA and two (2) members appointed by the administration, shall be formed to make recommendations to the parties with the goal of having a plan in place by April 1, 2017. The new merit program for Faculty Members and Lecturers will not be implemented in any given year of the Agreement unless a plan is in place and ratified prior to the year for which performance will be evaluated.
- 6. If a new merit program is not in place in time for it to be implemented in Year 3 and/or 4 of the Agreement, 75% of the Salary Pool will be distributed as across-the-board increases and 25% as merit pay, distributed at the discretion of the Provost, based on recommendations from the Chairs and Deans. No one shall receive a total salary increase of more than 1.75 times the average merit pool award.
- 7. The discretionary portion of the Pool in Years 1 and 2 (and Years 3 and/or 4 if no new merit program is agreed to covering one or both of those years) shall be used to address anomalies, inequities and to reward performance not sufficiently recognized. After the Provost finalizes how the discretionary pool will be distributed for any given year, he or she will provide the Association with a list of the individuals who will receive monies from the pool, how much each individual will receive, and a rationale for each discretionary distribution, prior to distribution. Decisions concerning who will receive these awards, and the amount of such awards, as long as the amounts are within the parameters set forth above, are not subject to the grievance procedure

8. A faculty member on Family Leave, or sick leave for at least one full semester during the year of review, shall receive an increase equal to the average percentage award for faculty members for the year in question. A faculty member on sabbatical leave for at least one full semester during the year of review shall receive an increase equal to the average award for that year.

C. Compensation Plan for Academic Administrators

- 1. Academic Administrators for purposes of Article X shall be defined as Administrators with faculty rank who perform administrative services and who receive a stipend for such services and/or have no teaching load, e.g., Department Chairs. All other faculty in the PSA bargaining unit who perform administrative services shall be included in the faculty pool and shall be compensated in accordance with the provisions of Article X.B, above.
- 2. For all four (4) years of the Agreement all increases in faculty salary for Academic Administrators shall be awarded by the Dean with the review and approval of the Provost, in accordance with the merit program outlined below.
- 3. The salary pooling percentage for each year shall be calculated as follows, on July 1st of the applicable year of the increase:

Fiscal Year 2016 - Year 1 - 2% of eligible Academic Administrators' salary base.

Fiscal Year 2017 - Year 2 - 3% of eligible Academic Administrators' salary base

Fiscal Year 2018 - Year 3 - 1.75% of eligible Academic Administrators' salary base

Fiscal Year 2019 - Year 4 – 1.75% of eligible Academic Administrators' salary base

4. Academic Administrator Merit Program

- a. **Eligibility** (One Full Year) Defined: At least one (1) academic year of faculty service and one-half (1/2) fiscal year of supervisory/administrative service, immediately preceding the year of award, are prerequisite to participation in the Program. Faculty with one (1) or more years of faculty service and less than one-half (1/2) of one (1) year of service as an Academic Administrator will be eligible to participate in the Faculty compensation program in accordance with parameters set out in X.B, above.
- b. Each year on or before September 1st of the year of award, the university Deans shall rank order performance (highest performance is #1) with written rationale attached, for all Academic Administrators entrusted to their supervisory stewardship and forward the rank ordered roster and accompanying rationale to the Provost. The Provost shall review the rankings and accompanying rationale,

consolidate the ranked rosters and slot all Academic Administrators reporting directly to him/her in determined order of relative performance without altering that rank ordering among those ranked by the Deans. The Provost will then, in consultation with the Deans, determine the amount to be awarded to each participant and direct payment accordingly on or before October 1 of the year of the award. The total awarded will be the amount of the pool specified above.

- c. Each year the merit pool will be set based on the salary base of the eligible Academic Administrators' faculty salary base as of the last full pay of the academic year preceding awarding. For pooling purposes, Academic Administrators' faculty salary base shall include all Academic Administrators appointed prior to January 1st of the pooling year but exclude those who are no longer holding Academic Administrator status as of the second full pay in September. An Academic Administrator is not eligible for merit consideration unless he/she contributed to the merit pool.
- d. The Association shall be provided a draft spreadsheet of the Faculty salary base no later than June 15th. No later than October 1st, Deans and the Association shall each be provided with a final list in order to rank performance as set forth herein. (Highest performance is #1) with written rationale attached, for all Academic Administrators entrusted to their supervisory stewardship and forward the rank ordered roster and accompanying rationale to the Provost. The Provost shall review the rankings and accompanying rationale, consolidate the ranked rosters and slot all Academic Administrators reporting directly to him/her in determined order of relative performance without altering that rank ordering among those ranked by the Deans. The Provost will then, in consultation with the Deans, determine the amount to be awarded to each participant and direct payment accordingly on or before the first full pay of December of the year of the award.
- e. An academic administrator on Family Leave, or sick leave for at least one full semester during the year of review, shall receive an increase equal to the average percentage award for academic administrators for the year in question. An academic administrator on sabbatical leave for at least one full semester during the year of review shall receive an increase equal to the average award for that year.

5. Merit Appeal Process for Academic Administrators:

- a. Academic Administrator denied merit award may, as an exclusive avenue for redress under this Collective Bargaining Agreement, file an appeal with the President of the University. Any appeal must be filed no later than sixty (60) days following receipt of individual notification to the affected members that merit awards have been made.
- b. The sole basis for appeal shall be that the denial of merit award was without a rational basis, given the demonstrated record of performance. The President will consider the appeal and make a determination within thirty (30) days of receipt of

the appeal. The Appellant carries the burden of demonstrating that the denial of merit held no rational basis and is responsible for providing (or identifying where unavailable to him/her) all evidence in support of this contention.

- c. If the President determines to hold a meeting to discuss the appeal, within the initial thirty (30) day period, the time limits in which to respond will be extended for an additional thirty (30) days following the meeting.
- d. The decision of the President will be final and binding.

D. Faculty Promotion Policy

Upon the effective date of a promotion a Faculty member shall receive an increase to their base salary of seven and one half (7.5%). Promotional adjustment shall be applied prior to merit award adjustment to base salary, effective at the same time.

E. Faculty Teaching Load

The 1993 Faculty Load Agreement, attached as Appendix F, shall remain in effect. The normal teaching load assignment per semester for tenured and tenure track faculty (but not including lecturers), other than faculty of the College of Architecture and Design, will be nine (9) contact hours. If a faculty member (other than as excepted above) is assigned a load of greater than nine (9) contact hours, the reasons for such a teaching assignment beyond the normative load will be provided to such faculty member in writing and shared with the PSA in the spring semester prior to the beginning of the following academic year in which the greater than 9 contact hour assignment is anticipated, for discussion as appropriate with the Chair or Dean. Faculty who are primarily only teaching may be expected to teach up to 12 hours. Faculty who have been assigned more than 9 contact hours at any point prior to July 1, 2007, may be assigned an equivalent number of hours, if it is determined to be appropriate.

F. Research and Visiting Professors, Professors of Practice

Research Professors, Visiting Professors and Professors of Practice, including but not limited to Assistant Research Professors, Associate Research Professors, Distinguished Research Professors, and Research Professor, recognized under Article II, <u>Recognition</u>, supra, shall be exempted from the compensation provisions of Article X. Compensation for Professors of Practice shall be in accordance with Appendix L, Side Letter of Agreement Concerning Professors of Practice.

<u>ARTICLE XI – LECTURERS</u>

A. Employment Basis

1. Lecturers, designated as either University Lecturers or Senior University Lecturers, are full-time non-tenure track members of the instructional staff, whose primary responsibilities are teaching and professional practice.

- 2. Senior University Lecturer, is a rank of distinction that can be attained either on initial appointment or through promotion. Appointment to the rank of Senior University Lecturer is offered to candidates with documented superior performance and credentials in their domain of expertise. Promotion from the rank of University Lecturer to the rank of Senior University Lecturer is attained through successful teaching-related performance over a sustained period, demonstrating a record of substantial and continued effectiveness. To be eligible for promotion to the position of Senior University Lecturer, the candidate must have served for five consecutive years in the position of University Lecturer. Equivalent full-time teaching at the college/university level may be considered for two of required five years. The quality and significance of the candidate's work in instruction will be the primary determinant for promotion; however, professional development, scholarship, and service contributions may also be considered and evaluated. The procedure for applying for promotion to the Senior University Lecturer position is set forth in Appendix G.
- 3. The primary factors to be considered in determining the rank at which Lecturers are initially placed, starting salaries, decisions concerning reappointment, and decisions concerning eligibility for multi-year contracts, shall be as follows: teaching effectiveness, pertinent experience, academic credentials and market factors.
- 4. The hiring, renewal and non-renewal of Lecturers shall be the responsibility of the Departmental Chairperson with input from the department tenured and tenure-track faculty, subject to the approval of the College Dean and the Provost.
- 5. All Lecturers who are newly hired shall serve a one (1) year probationary period, commencing from the date of hire. With the exception of those employees newly hired to the University who have not completed an initial probationary period, employees serving a new or continuing probationary period in a position to which they are anticipated to be permanently appointed shall be entitled to placement upon the appropriate salary matrix. Thereafter, they shall, during the term of the one (1) or multi-year, employer determined contractual appointment, be employed on a contractual term basis as follows:
 - a. Following the end of the probationary period through the next five (5) consecutive, full, fiscal years of annual or multiyear contractual appointment, Lecturers shall maintain just cause protection during the Employer determined, renewable, contractual term appointments, but shall maintain no employment rights beyond the expiration of the term(s).
 - b. Lecturers with at least five (5), consecutive, full fiscal years of Non-probationary, contractual appointment, will be expressly afforded a "Contractual Expectation Interest" in renewal of contractual appointment.
- 6. Contractual Expectation Interest shall be defined for purposes of this provision only as the right to reappointment in accordance with this provision, absent an Employer expressed and documented rational basis for non-reappointment, based upon substandard

performance or misconduct, noticed in writing to the Lecturer at least ninety (90) days before the expiration of his/her contractual term.

- 7. Lecturers holding a Contractual Expectation Interest who are not re-appointed in accordance with this provision may grieve the non-reappointment on the basis that the Employer did not have or timely provide a performance based rational basis to not reappoint that employee. The burden of proof shall be the Employer's.
- 8. The Employer shall maintain at least thirty-five percent (35%) of the Lecturers on multiyear employment contracts.
- 9. Layoff due to fiscal based position deletion must be preceded by thirty (30) calendar days' notice or equivalent salary compensation paid in lieu of notice to the affected Lecturers. Discharge for just cause may occur at any time and the discharged employee shall only be entitled to that notice, if any notice, mandated by law.

B. Compensation

1. The salary pooling percentage for each year shall be as follows, calculated on July 1st of the applicable year of the increase:⁴

```
Fiscal Year 2016 - Year 1-2\% of eligible lecturers' salary base
Fiscal Year 2017 - Year 2 -3% of eligible lecturers' salary base
Fiscal Year 2018 - Year 3-1.75\% of eligible lecturers' salary base
Fiscal Year 2019 - Year 4-1.75\% of eligible lecturers' salary base
```

2. Salary Minimums and Maximums:

In Year 1 of the Agreement, the salary cap for University Lecturers shall be increased to \$85,000, and the salary cap for Senior University Lecturer shall be increased to \$105,000. The minimum hiring rate for all Lecturer positions, in Years 1 and 2 of the Agreement, shall be no lower than the lowest salary received by a currently employed lecturer during the applicable year. Effective in Year 3 of the Agreement the minimum annual compensation for University Lecturers shall be \$50,000 per year, and the minimum annual compensation for Senior University Lecturers shall be \$55,000 per year. Individual salary increases above the applicable ranges shall be paid in cash. Minimum and maximum salaries for Lecturers are attached hereto as Appendix H.

3. Promotional Increase:

University Lecturers shall be entitled to a promotional increase of 7.5% upon promotion to Senior University Lecturer, in addition to any other salary increase to which they would be otherwise entitled.

4. In year 1 and 2 of the Agreement 90% of the the salary pool shall be distributed in as across-the-board increases to all Lecturers who are eligible for an increase and in active employment as of the date of the ratification of this Agreement. The remaining 10% of

-

⁴ Eligibility is defined in Article XVII.C.

the pool shall be designated as merit pay, and distributed at the discretion of the Provost, based on recommendations from the Chairs and Deans. No one shall receive a total salary increase of more than 1.5 times the average merit pool award. To the extent that this results in a salary that would exceed the salary cap the balance will be paid in cash.

- 5. The parties will make a good faith effort to negotiate a new merit program for Lecturers in time for it to be implemented in Year 3 of the Agreement. A sub-committee consisting of two (2) members appointed by the Association and two (2) members appointed by the administration, shall be formed to make recommendations to the parties with the goal of having a plan for a new merit program for Faculty Members and Lecturers in place by April 1, 2017. The new merit program will not be implemented in any given year of the Agreement unless a plan is in place and ratified prior to the year for which performance will be evaluated.
- 6. If a new merit program is not in place in time for it to be implemented in Year 3 and/or 4 of the Agreement, 75% of the Salary Pool will be distributed as across-the-board increases and 25% as merit pay, distributed at the discretion of the Provost, based on recommendations from the Chairs and Deans. No one shall receive a total salary increase of more than 1.75 times the average merit pool award.
- 7. The discretionary portion of the Pool in Years 1 and 2 (and Years 3 and/or 4 if no new merit program is agreed to covering one or both of those years) shall be used to address anomalies, inequities and to reward performance not sufficiently recognized. After the Provost finalizes how the discretionary pool will be distributed for any given year, he or she will provide the Association with a list of the individuals who will receive monies from the pool, how much each individual will receive, and a rationale for each discretionary distribution, prior to distribution. Decisions concerning who will receive these awards, and the amount of such awards, as long as the amounts are within the parameters set forth above, are not subject to the grievance procedure.
- 8. A Lecturer on Family Leave, or sick leave for at least one full semester during the year of review, shall receive an increase equal to the average percentage award for Lecturers for the year in question. A Lecturer on sabbatical leave for at least one full semester during the year of review shall receive an increase equal to the average award for that year.

C. Course Load

1. The nominal load for Lecturers is twelve (12) credit hours per semester (not to exceed 16 contact hours), other than those employed in the School of Architecture, for whom the nominal load is sixteen (16) credit hours. Assignments in lieu of course load may include formal student advisement, assignments, course/curriculum development, coordination, and department or college administration. The teaching load shall not normally be fewer than nine (9) contact hours.

D. Other Provisions

- 1. Involvement of Lecturers in faculty governance, performance evaluation of Lecturers, limitations on numbers of Lecturers, professional development for Lecturers, and other issues, may be the subject of future consideration and discussion by the Faculty Senate and/or the Professional Staff Association.
- 2. At least annually the university will track the number of Lecturer positions relative to the number of tenured and tenure-track faculty, and agrees to maintain the guideline that no more than 25% of full-time faculty positions (including tenured and tenure-track faculty and lecturers) shall be held by Lecturers. This guideline shall be applied across the university, rather than by department or unit. This guideline will not be exceeded without first engaging in a dialogue with faculty, through the PSA.

ARTICLE XII – NON-DISCRIMINATION

- A. There shall be no discrimination by the Employer, employees, or the Association against any member of the bargaining unit based upon membership or non-membership in or participation in legitimate activity on behalf of the Association.
- B. The willingness of the parties to continue the non-discrimination clause in the Agreement is predicated on the mutual understanding of the intent to comply with the Supreme Court decision in <u>Teaneck Board of Education v. Teaneck Teachers Association</u>, that discrimination claims relating to inherent managerial prerogatives cannot be subject to binding arbitration and with the limitations on arbitrability set forth in the Agreement.
- C. All references to employees in this Agreement designate both sexes and wherever the male gender is used it shall be construed to include male and female employees.

ARTICLE XIII – GROUP REVIEW COMMITTEE

A committee shall be established to review all group terminations of members of the negotiating unit when such terminations are for any reason other than individual performance and shall function as follows:

- A. The Committee to be comprised of six (6) persons from the negotiating unit, with three (3) selected by the President of the Association;
- B. The Committee shall meet at least once annually at an appropriate time with the appropriate Academic Officer to review the situation;
- C. The Committee may make written recommendations to the appropriate Academic Officer;

- D. The Employer will consider recommendations of the Committee prior to making its final determination;
- E. The appropriate Academic Officer shall notify the Committee of the final determination prior to its general release.

ARTICLE XIV - ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

A. Fringe Benefits

1. The Employer shall provide travel support for travel to meetings of scholarly and professional organizations or such other travel as is necessary in support of scholarly or professional activities.

2. Health Benefits Program:

It is agreed that the State Health Benefits Program, health and medical, prescription, and dental, and any rules and regulations governing its application, including amendments or revisions thereto, shall be applicable to employees covered by this Agreement, The University agrees to continue to participate in the State Health Benefits Program for the duration of this Agreement. It is agreed that Changes in benefits or open enrollment periods adopted by the State Division of Pensions and Benefits for State employees are a requirement for continued participation in the State Health Benefits Program and the parties recognize that changes shall apply to employees represented by the union. It is agreed that changes, corrections or reinterpretations of the Program promulgated by the State including changes in plan operators, in co-payments and contributions, or other changes or modifications, are applicable to employees covered by this Agreement and shall be incorporated into the Agreement and thereafter be applicable to all employees. It is specifically understood that the provisions of the Pension and Health Benefit Reform legislation under Chapter 78, P.L. 2011, shall be applicable to all employee covered by this A summary of changes are available from the Department of Human Agreement. Health **Benefits** web Resources or on the State site: www.state.nj.us/treasury/pensions/shbp.htm

Where an employee utilizes any type of leave, whether paid or unpaid, he or she shall continue payment of health plan premiums at the same level as those that he/she paid prior to the leave as applicable under the State Health Benefits Program. If the premiums are raised or lowered, the employee will be required to pay the then-applicable premium rates.

If the employee charges his accrued vacation, sick, and/or administrative leave accruals for any leave, his share of premiums will be paid by payroll deductions continued in the same method as utilized during active employment status.

If the leave is unpaid, NJIT will advance payment of the employee's health plan premiums for the period of leave (up to three full months) and will bill the employee for those premiums. Prior to the employee's return from leave to active employment status, the Department of Human Resources will advise the employee in writing of the full amount of health plan premiums advanced on his or her behalf by NJIT. Within seven (7) business days of his return to active employment status, the employee must indicate, in writing, his or her selected method of repayment of the health plan premiums: (1) full repayment through the Bursar's Office within ten (10) business days, (2) additional payroll deduction at the same amount and rate as that of the employee's biweekly payroll deduction for health plan premium payment, or (3) a repayment plan approved, in writing, by the Vice President for Human Resources. If the employee fails to select a repayment option or does not make timely payments, NJIT, upon written notice, may charge additional payroll deductions until the full amount of health plan premiums paid on the employee's behalf during his unpaid leave has been repaid in full.

3. Eye Care Program:

It is agreed that NJIT shall continue the Eye Care Program during the period of this Agreement unless or until it is modified in a successor Agreement.

- a. It is agreed that Eye Care Program shall include all employees and their eligible dependents (spouse, domestic partner, civil union partner and unmarried children under 26 years if age who live with the employee in the regular parent-child relationship). The coverage shall be \$35 for regular glasses and \$40 for bifocals
- b. The extension of benefits to dependents shall be effective only after the employee has been continuously employed for a minimum of sixty (60) days.
- c. Full-time employees and eligible dependents as defined above shall be eligible for a maximum payment of \$35 on the cost, whichever is less, of an eye examination by an Ophthalmologist or an Optometrist.
- d. Each eligible employee and dependent may receive only one (1) payment for glasses and one payment for examinations during the period of July 1, 2011 to June 30, 2013, and one (1) payment for the period July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2015. This program ends on June 30, 2015. Proper affidavit and submission of receipts are required of the employee in order to receive payment.

4. Deferred Compensation

It is understood that the State shall be solely responsible for the administration of the Deferred Compensation Plan and the determination of policies, conditions and regulations governing its implementation and use.

5 Tuition Remission

The university's tuition remission policy, attached as Appendix I, will be applicable to members of the bargaining unit, with the following modifications.

- a. Members of the PSA bargaining unit are entitled to receive tuition remission benefits during their first year of employment for courses taken at NJIT.
- b. Neither the career related requirement nor the power to deny benefits for fiscal limitations applies to courses taken by employees at NJIT, except such requirements do apply for the NJIT EMBA program and/or courses pursuant to cross-registration at other public universities involving a cost to NJIT.
- c. Any administrative decision to limit benefits for non-NJIT degree programs based on economic reasons will be uniformly applied.
- d. NJIT shall grandparent any unit member who is enrolled in in a degree program as of April 28, 2009, regardless of career relatedness, but whose tuition remission was denied. In addition, any unit member who was taking courses offered as part of a degree program as of April 28, 2009, but not yet matriculated into that program, and who was covered by tuition benefits as of November 19, 2009, and who matriculated into their degree program by the Spring 2010 semester, shall continue to be covered by tuition remission benefits. Further, any unit member receiving benefits in connection with a certificate program as of April 28, 2009, shall continue to receive such benefits until completion of such program. Finally, any unit member receiving tuition remission as of April 28, 2009, not otherwise covered by the provisions of this section, shall be considered for continuation of such benefits on a good faith basis.

B. Professional Conditions

- 1. A member of the bargaining unit may pursue outside activities in accordance with the guidelines expressed in the New Jersey Institute of Technology Faculty Handbook and the State Conflict of Interest law and applicable regulations.
- 2. Members of the negotiating unit are permitted to review their University file upon request of written application to the Department of Human Resources. They may forward material for inclusion in their university file; however, only material reasonably expected to contribute to the administration of the university will be included.
 - a. Material which is derogatory will not be placed in the university personnel file unless the employee has been afforded an opportunity to review it and attach any comment he/she may desire. If the employee does not attach such comment to the document after having been given the opportunity to do so, a statement to that effect shall be affixed to the document.

3. Notice will be given internally, by the Employer, of any vacancy prior to any general advertisement of the vacancy.

C. Parking

1. Fees (Regular Privileges)

- a. All parking (except grandpersoned spaces, and the 60 parking spots designated for Faculty members and Lecturers) at all available locations, including NJIT's parking deck, shall be on a first come, first served basis following registration of a bargaining unit member's motor vehicle, entitling him/her to parking privileges.
- b. Commencing with ratification of the Agreement all newly hired employees, who elect to access University parking on a regular basis, shall pay .4% (four-tenths of one percent) of their base salary as a fee for parking.
- c. Commencing with the first paycheck on or after January 1, 2017, employees already in the employ of the University, who elect to access University parking on a regular basis, shall pay .4% (four-tenths of one percent) of their base salary, as a fee for parking, with a cap of \$275 for the spring 2017 semester, through the period ending June 30, 2017. In year 3 of the Agreement the cap shall be increased to \$600 for the academic year ending June 30, 2018. Commencing with Year 4 of the Agreement the cap shall be eliminated, and all employees who elect to access University parking on a regular basis, shall pay .4% (four-tenths of one percent) of their base salary.
- d. Commencing with the semester after ratification, or sooner if reasonably possible, the University shall reserve sixty (60) parking spaces in the lower level of the Summit Street Parking Deck for the exclusive use of full-time Faculty Members and Lecturers in the PSA bargaining unit. These spaces will be reserved for such exclusive use during the fall and spring semesters, Monday through Friday, from 6:45 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. The University shall clearly designate these spaces, and shall actively enforce the prohibition on others using these spaces during the designated periods.

2. Fees (Daily Pay Privileges)

The University provides a pay as you park lot and/or system that is intended for and will accommodate the occasional user of parking privileges at the university in accordance with a fee schedule that is no greater than \$8.00 (eight dollars) per day, and utilization parameters that are economically viable and not undermining of the regular parking program.

3. Grandperson Space

- a. A listing of formerly identified reserve space parking permit holders shall be retained in duplicate by NJIT and the PSA for entitlement to priority parking lot designation should parking congestion increase dramatically in the future. Faculty and Staff Lots shall be identified.
- b. For all bargaining unit members who share a grandpersoned space, there shall be only one parking fee paid for the space, provided that only one member uses university parking facilities on a given day.

D. Special Salary Actions

Special salary actions shall be made at the sole discretion of the university in response to bona fide outside employment offers, to respond to market conditions in critical academic areas, to recognize extraordinary achievement, and to implement salary equity adjustments. The maximum number of faculty subject to special salary actions shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the faculty. Lecturers and Professional Staff Members are also eligible for special salary actions, in response to the same factors, at the sole discretion of the university. These salary actions shall not be drawn from any negotiated salary program or pool of money. The PSA will receive notification of any such actions.

E. Scheduling of Instructional Staff

- 1. Departments shall attempt, as a normal practice, to schedule the weekly teaching responsibilities of tenured and tenure track faculty within four (4) school days unless exceptional circumstances shall interfere.
- 2. Such other responsibilities as have traditionally been assigned to members of the tenured and tenure track faculty shall continue to be scheduled at the discretion of the Employer.
- 3. Members of the tenured and tenure track faculty shall meet individually with their Department Chairperson during the academic year to discuss the planned utilization of the teaching staff member's unassigned day. The utilization of such an unassigned day shall be a consideration in the overall assessment of the faculty member's professional performance.
- 4. Cognizant of the need for certain programmatic scheduling of weekend and/or evening classes and/or off-campus instruction, instructional staff may be assigned such classes, from time to time, with the following caveats:
 - a. Faculty and bargaining unit instructional staff hired on or after July 1, 1993, shall be informed of the potential for being assigned to weekend, evening and/or off-campus instruction.

- b. Tenured and tenure track faculty may only be required to teach one evening per week. Such faculty may be scheduled for one evening per academic semester or two evenings per academic year. Non-tenure track faculty and other instructional staff may be required to teach more than one evening per week where needed to address programmatic needs of their Department.
- c. The employer will accept qualified volunteers from among the faculty in the subject discipline and familiar with the course(s) to be taught.
- d. Unilateral assignment of such evening and weekend class(es) shall continue to respect statement(s) relative to parameters as set out in the Faculty Handbook with respect to tenured faculty.
- 5. The class assignment process shall be subject to the labor management process, where representatives from both the PSA and administration will meet to ensure the assignment process meets university, student and faculty needs to the fullest extent possible utilizing available resources.

F. Class Size

- 1. University determinations with respect to class size shall be determined by a number of factors, including but not limited to curriculum delivery model, level of the course, and physical and budget constraints. Normal class sizes should be determined program by program.
- 2. Rules concerning how load will be adjusted to account for larger than normal courses, and when grading support will be provided, are set forth in a Memorandum of Understanding on Large Class Size Load and Support, attached as Appendix J.

G. Travel Reimbursement for Off-Campus Teaching

For the term of this Agreement the following travel allowance shall be paid to those bargaining unit Faculty Members and Lecturers participating in off-campus teaching on behalf of NJIT:

- 1. Five Hundred and fifty dollars (\$550) per semester for each course assignment greater than fifteen (15) miles one way, from NJIT but less than thirty (30) miles, one way, from NJIT.
- 2. One Thousand, seventy-five dollars (\$1,075) per semester for each course assignment at least thirty (30) miles, one way, from NJIT but less than sixty (60) miles, one way, from NJIT.
- 3. One Thousand, Six Hundred dollars (\$1,600) per semester for each course assignment at least sixty (60) miles, one way, from NJIT.
- 4. Additionally, unusual, out-of-pocket, necessary expenses, such as cost of overnight accommodations where inclement weather precludes travel, will, upon providing receipt(s)

therefore, and up to Two Hundred and fifty dollars (\$250) per semester, be reimbursed by NJIT.

- 5. To the extent practicable, a faculty member teaching at an off-campus site will not be assigned on campus teaching duties the same day, unless mutually agreeable to the faculty member.
- 6. The remuneration provided for under this Article is intended to accommodate both additional costs and inconvenience reasonably associated with directed travel that is further from the faculty member's personal residence than NJIT. Where the faculty member's personal residence is closer to the off campus teaching site than to NJIT, and where the faculty member teaching off campus is not also scheduled to teach at NJIT on the same day, this provision is not applicable. Where significant professional inconvenience can be demonstrated by an unusual set of circumstances where this article's travel stipend does not apply, yet an economic injustice to a faculty member is caused by the administration of this policy, the matter may be referred to the Joint Advisory Committee for review as to whether a special accommodation should be afforded. Accommodations will only be afforded where the spirit of the article would be more accurately served thereby.

H. Other Compensation Considerations

Bargaining unit members whose base salaries are not set on nor accountable to salary guide shall receive the across-the-board increases, if any, otherwise applicable to them, as set out in the compensation provisions of Article IX, X and XI of the Agreement, through incorporation to individually set annual salary, except that employees fully funded through grants shall be compensated according to and consistent with the terms of the grant, with salaried increases not to exceed that set out by grant parameters, and newly hired bargaining unit members shall receive that salary fixed upon hire for the initial, annual contract period.

I. Time Standards for Written Notification of Non-Reappointment

- 1. Non-tenure track academic personnel will be defined as personnel whose regular, continuing position responsibilities include teaching at least six (6) contact hours per semester.
- 2. Not later than April 1st of the last year of the first and second contractual appointment shall non-tenure track academic personnel be notified of non-reappointment following completion of their contractual term. This provision will not apply to Visiting Professors during their first contractual appointment.
- 3. No later than January 31st of the last year of the third or later contractual appointment, non-tenure track academic personnel shall be notified of non-reappointment following completion of their contractual term.

ARTICLE XV – JOB ACTION

The Association agrees that it will refrain from any unlawful act such as strike, work stoppage, slow down, or other job action during the life of this contract and will eschew any threat, encouragement, support, or condoning of any such job action.

ARTICLE XVI – JOINT PSA/AAUP AND NJIT ADVISORY COMMITTEE

A Joint Advisory Committee, consisting of representatives of the Employer and Association shall be formed and maintained for the purpose of conferring over joint interests and concerns other than grievances. Either party may request a meeting and shall submit a written agenda of topics to be discussed seven (7) days prior to such meeting. Request by the Association for such a meeting will be made to the Vice President of Human Resources. Employee representatives who attend such meetings during their scheduled work shift shall be granted time off to attend without loss of pay. A maximum of three (3) Professional Staff representatives of the Association may attend such meetings.

The parties shall endeavor to meet at least quarterly, but can meet more often if needed. Additionally, an ongoing priority agenda for discussion and review shall consist of the following issues:

- A. Faculty Load assignment, progress toward and maintenance of the nominal load and its complement of scholarship and service.
- B. Conflicts of Interest Procedures.
- C. Distance Learning Policy & Procedure.
- D. Retirement contributions from authorized grants in accordance with grant parameters, TIAA-CREF parameters and State regulation.

<u>ARTICLE XVII – GENERAL</u>

- A. If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees is held to be contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by law; but, all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- B. This Agreement, together with all attachments and appendices incorporated and referenced herein, incorporates the entire understanding of the parties on all matters which were or could have been the subject of negotiations. During the term of this Agreement, neither party shall

be required to negotiate with respect to any such matter except that proposed new rules or modification of existing rules governing working conditions shall be presented to the Association and negotiated upon the request of the Association as may be required pursuant to the New Jersey Public Employer-Employee Relations Act, as amended.

C. Other than as set forth in this paragraph, all salary increases in this Agreement with effective dates prior to the date of ratification, shall be effective retroactively. All eligible employees in active employment on the date of ratification shall receive retroactive payments reflecting these increases no later than 90 days from the date of ratification. Employees in their first year of employment are not eligible for increases which are, or were, effective during their first year of employment. First year of employment for purposes of this Agreement shall be defined as the period of time from the date of hire into a PSA-represented position until the following July 1st, but not less than six (6) full months, and not greater than eighteen (18) months.

Under the 2016 Faculty Incentive Program (FISP), incentive payments are calculated on the basis of salary as of June 30, 2016. Faculty members who have opted for retirement pursuant to FISP shall have their incentive payments calculated on the basis of their salary as of that date (i.e., including the increases scheduled for July 1, 2015), whether or not they are an active employee on the date of ratification. Any retroactive monies owed for Fiscal Year 2016 as a result of this provision will be paid as a lump sum as soon as possible but no later than 90 days after ratification. In addition, any Faculty Member retiring on or after July 1, 2016, pursuant to FISP, who retires prior to ratification, shall be entitled to retroactive salary increases for their period of actual employment prior to retirement, whether or not they are in active employment on the date of ratification. These payments are only available to Faculty Members retiring pursuant to the FISP Program during the effective dates of the Agreement. These payments shall not set a precedent nor constitute a waiver with respect to eligibility for retroactive payments as set forth above in this paragraph.

D. Within thirty (30) days or as soon thereafter as possible after the parties reach agreement on a consolidated version of the current Agreement, copies of this Agreement shall be printed by the Employer, who will deliver thirty (30) to the Association for their office use, The Agreement shall be made available upon the NJIT website on the Catalogue of University Policies page, http://www5.njit.edu/policies/and a hard copy will be produced and delivered to any bargaining unit member who affirmatively requests one.

E. Release Time - Association Business

- 1. The Association President shall be entitled to three (3) credit hours of release time per semester for legitimate Association business, each year of this Agreement. The entitlement is available in both fall and spring semesters but is not cumulative year to year.
- 2. The Association shall be further entitled, in each year of this Agreement, to an additional six (6) credit hours total (per semester) of release time for allocation to Association designated faculty for purposes of engaging in legitimate Association business. Allocation must be in at least one (1) credit hour increments per semester. The entitlement is available

in both fall and spring semesters but is not cumulative beyond the year in which allocation accrual reaches three (3) hours.

3. The Association shall be entitled to a total of twelve (12) days per year for allocation to Professional Staff members to attend conferences and/or educational seminars. Utilization is subject to prior request of, and approval from, the relevant bargaining unit member's supervisor, and it will not be unreasonably denied. These days are not cumulative year to year.

F. Office Space

The Association shall be afforded an office space on the main campus of the university.

G. Appropriation of Funds

All commitments which so require are subject to the appropriation of funds and any necessary legislative action.

H. Adjustment to the 10-Month Pay Schedule

- 1. Commencing with the 2017-2018 Academic Year the pay calendar for those paid on a 10-month basis will be moved forward by two pay periods, i.e., it will commence two pay period later than it did in the 2016-2017 Academic Year. The first pay check will be paid on August 11, 2017, and the last check will be paid on June 1, 2018.
- 2. During the 2017-2018 Academic Year bargaining unit members paid on a 10-month basis, who affirmatively request it, will be given a pay advance equal to the pay for two (2) pay periods, paid to them by July 14, 2017, the date they would have received their first pay check absent the agreed-upon adjustment. This advance will be repaid in 22 equal installments deducted from each paycheck for the remainder of the Academic Year. Notice of this option will be sent to all affected bargaining unit members by the Administration by April 3, 2017. Those opting to receive a pay advance will need to notify NJIT no later than May 1, 2017.
- 3. During the 2018-2019 Academic Year bargaining unit members paid on a 10-month basis, who affirmatively request it, will be given a pay advance equal to the pay for one (1) pay period, paid to them by July 27, 2017. This advance will be repaid in eleven (11) equal installments deducted from each of the first eleven (11) paychecks received during that Academic Year. Notice of this option will be sent to all affected bargaining unit members by the Administration by April 2, 2018. Those opting to receive a pay advance will need to notify NJIT no later than May 1, 2018.

- 4. In subsequent years, the first pay of the Academic Year shall occur no earlier than August 8th but no later than August 22nd. If the initial Academic Year pay date is scheduled to occur before August 8th, he first pay of the Academic Year will be moved two weeks later. In this event, a 10-month employee who affirmatively requests it will be given a pay advance equal to the pay for one (1) pay period, paid to them on the day they would have been paid, but for the adjustment. The salary advance will be recovered by the university over the following eleven (11) pay periods through equal, automatic biweekly payroll deductions.
- 5. The Pay Schedule, for 10-month employees, for the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 Academic Years is attached to the Agreement as Appendix E.

I. Appendices

- A. Professional Staff Performance Evaluation Form
- B. Professional Staff Salary Matrix
- C. Professional Staff Exceptional Compensation Program
- D. Faculty Salary Minima
- E. Pay Dates for 10-Month Employees for Fiscal Years 2018 and 2019
- F. 1993 Faculty Teaching Load Agreement
- G. Procedures for Applying for Promotion to Senior Lecturer Position
- H. Lecturer Salary Matrix
- I. University Tuition Remission Policy
- J. Large Class Size Agreement
- K. Reference to 1977-1979 Agreement
- L. Side Letter of Agreement Concerning Professors of Practice

ARTICLE XVIII

DURATION

This Agreement shall become effective July 1, 2015 and shall terminate as of June 30, 2019.

Signed this 13th day of July, 2017

For the Professional Staff Association,

Inc./AAUP:

Manny Perez

President

For the Employer:

ali Rene Va

Fadi P. Deek

Chief Negotiator

Robert Dresneck
Negotiating Team Member

Anthony Schuman
Negotiating Team Member

Burt Kimmelman
Negotiating Team Member

John Esche Negotiating Team Member

Cynthia Wos Negotiating Team Member

Michelle Tellefsen
PSA/AAUP Representative

Edward J. Bishof, Sr.
Negotiating Team Member

Holly C. Stern Negotiating Team Member

Kay Turner Negotiating Team Member

Charles Fey (Retired) Negotiating Team Member

Basil Baltzis
Negotiating Team Member

Kamal Joshi Negotiating Team Member

Nancy Hark Negotiating Team Member

Vanessa Clarke Young Negotiating Team Member

APPENDIX A – PROFESSIONAL STAFF PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM

PSA Staff Evaluation Form



| Date I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | University Competencies Team work / Collaboration Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | University Competencies Team work / Collaboration Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications | | | |
|---|--|---|--------------------------|----------------------------|-------------|
| Team work / Collaboration Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Team work / Collaboration Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Team work / Collaboration Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications | | | |
| Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works In accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Professionalism Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications | | Rating | |
| Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating Departments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Innovative Thinking / Creativity Effective Communications | | Rating | |
| Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Effective Communications Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Effective Communications | | Rating | |
| Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Departmental / Functional Competencies Rating NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. Date Evaluating Supervisor/Dept Head Division Head | | | Rating | |
| NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | NCAA Compliance: Works in accordance with NCAA rules and regulations (if applicable) Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the eval | Departmental / Functional Competencies | | Rating | |
| Overall Rating Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Overall Rating Coverall Rating | | l. | | _ |
| Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Overall Rating Coverall Rating | | | | = |
| Overall Rating Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Overall Rating Coverall Rating | | | | = |
| Overall Rating Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Overall Rating Coverall Rating | | | | = |
| Overall Rating Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Overall Rating Coverall Rating | | | | = |
| Overall Rating ments: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet requirements" (use additional sheet if required) Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. | Overall Rating Coverall Rating | | L | | |
| Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required) I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. Date | Employee Comments (use additional sheet if required I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. Signatures Date Evaluating Supervisor/Dept Head Division Head Division Head Date Da | Overall Rating | | | |
| I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. Date | I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. Date Evaluating Supervisor/Dept Head Division Head | ients: Must be provided if overall rating is "Does not meet req | ulrements" (use addition | onal sheet if required) | |
| I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. Date | I concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. I do not concur with the evaluation. Date Evaluating Supervisor/Dept Head Division Head | | Employee Comm | ente (ura additional chost | if required |
| - | Evaluating Supervisor/Dept Head Division Head | s (use additional sheet if required) | ☐ I concur w | ith the evaluation. | |
| - | Evaluating Supervisor/Dept Head Division Head | | | | |
| Coloring Control Deather | Vivision Head | ignatures | | Date | |
| | | - | | | |
| Division Head | fice President | | | | |
| /ice President | Evaluation provided to employee on | ivision Head | | | |

APPENDIX B – PROFESSIONAL STAFF SALARY MATRIX

Professional Staff Salary Matrix

| | Year 1 | | Year 2 | | Year 3 | | Year 4 | |
|-------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Range | Minimum | Maximum | Minimum | Maximum | Minimum | Maximum | Minimum | Maximum |
| 15 | \$38,396 | \$64,091 | \$38,396 | \$66,013 | \$40,124 | \$67,169 | \$40,124 | \$68,344 |
| 16 | \$40,313 | \$67,332 | \$40,313 | \$68,679 | \$42,127 | \$69,881 | \$42,127 | \$71,104 |
| 17 | \$42,326 | \$70,727 | \$42,326 | \$72,849 | \$44,231 | \$74,123 | \$44,231 | \$75,421 |
| 18 | \$44,445 | \$74,213 | \$44,445 | \$76,440 | \$46,445 | \$77,777 | \$46,445 | \$79,138 |
| 19 | \$46,666 | \$77,929 | \$46,666 | \$80,267 | \$48,766 | \$81,672 | \$48,766 | \$83,101 |
| 20 | \$48,999 | \$81,854 | \$48,999 | \$84,310 | \$51,204 | \$85,785 | \$51,204 | \$87,286 |
| 21 | \$51,448 | \$85,913 | \$51,448 | \$88,490 | \$53,763 | \$90,039 | \$53,763 | \$91,614 |
| 22 | \$54,026 | \$90,236 | \$54,026 | \$92,943 | \$56,457 | \$94,570 | \$56,457 | \$96,225 |
| 23 | \$56,726 | \$94,766 | \$56,726 | \$97,609 | \$59,279 | \$99,317 | \$59,279 | \$101,055 |
| 24 | \$59,562 | \$99,472 | \$59,562 | \$102,457 | \$62,242 | \$104,250 | \$62,242 | \$106,074 |
| 25 | \$62,539 | \$104,480 | \$62,539 | \$107,614 | \$65,353 | \$109,497 | \$65,353 | \$111,413 |
| 26 | \$65,669 | \$109,704 | \$65,669 | \$112,995 | \$68,624 | \$114,973 | \$68,624 | \$116,985 |
| 27 | \$68,956 | \$115,289 | \$68,956 | \$118,747 | \$72,059 | \$120,825 | \$72,059 | \$122,940 |
| 28 | \$72,401 | \$120,949 | \$72,401 | \$124,577 | \$75,659 | \$126,757 | \$75,659 | \$128,975 |
| 29 | \$76,022 | \$126,989 | \$76,022 | \$130,799 | \$79,443 | \$133,088 | \$79,443 | \$135,417 |
| 30 | \$79,824 | \$133,318 | \$79,824 | \$137,318 | \$83,416 | \$139,721 | \$83,416 | \$142,166 |
| 31 | \$83,815 | \$140,017 | \$83,815 | \$144,218 | \$87,587 | \$146,742 | \$87,587 | \$149,310 |
| 32 | \$88,011 | \$147,017 | \$88,011 | \$151,427 | \$91,971 | \$154,077 | \$91,971 | \$156,774 |
| 33 | \$92,407 | \$154,333 | \$92,407 | \$158,963 | \$96,565 | \$161,745 | \$96,565 | \$164,576 |
| 34 | \$97,030 | \$162,082 | \$97,030 | \$166,945 | \$101,396 | \$169,866 | \$101,396 | \$172,839 |
| 35 | \$101,881 | \$170,138 | \$101,881 | \$175,242 | \$106,466 | \$178,309 | \$106,466 | \$181,429 |
| 36 | \$106,973 | \$178,638 | \$106,973 | \$183,997 | \$111,787 | \$187,217 | \$111,787 | \$190,493 |
| 37 | \$112,319 | \$187,616 | \$112,319 | \$193,244 | \$117,373 | \$196,626 | \$117,373 | \$200,067 |
| 38 | \$117,933 | \$197,077 | \$117,933 | \$202,990 | \$123,240 | \$206,452 | \$123,240 | \$210,156 |
| 39 | \$123,829 | \$206,831 | \$123,829 | \$213,035 | \$129,401 | \$216,764 | \$129,401 | \$220,557 |
| 40 | \$130,026 | \$217,156 | \$130,026 | \$223,671 | \$135,877 | \$227,585 | \$135,877 | \$231,568 |
| 41 | \$136,527 | \$228,055 | \$136,527 | \$234,896 | \$142,671 | \$239,007 | \$142,671 | \$243,190 |
| 42 | \$143,350 | \$239,460 | \$143,350 | \$246,644 | \$149,801 | \$250,960 | \$149,801 | \$255,352 |
| 43 | \$150,518 | \$251,434 | \$150,518 | \$258,977 | \$157,291 | \$263,509 | \$157,291 | \$268,121 |
| 44 | \$158,043 | \$264,005 | \$158,043 | \$271,925 | \$165,155 | \$276,683 | \$165,155 | \$281,525 |

$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{APPENDIX} \ \textbf{C} - \textbf{PROFESSIONAL} \ \textbf{STAFF} \ \textbf{EXCEPTIONAL} \ \textbf{COMPENSATION} \\ \textbf{PROGRAM} \end{array}$

PSA Staff Exceptional Performance Recommendation Form



| Review Period | | |
|--|--|---------------|
| Department | | |
| Employee Last Name, First Name | | |
| Employee Title | | |
| Immediate Supervisor | | |
| | ed as demonstrably superior performance for the e strates a mastery of the position requirements. | valuation |
| | xceptional performance award: | |
| performance as defined, listing sp | emonstrating how the employee meets the criteria or pecific contributions, characteristics and outcomes. e is being recommended for exceptional performance award. | f exceptional |
| | | |
| Supervisor/Dept Head signature Date | Division Head signature Date | |
| Recommendation accepted V | /P signature | Date |

APPENDIX D – FACULTY SALARY MINIMA

Tenure Track Faculty Minimum Salaries

| Rank | Minimum Salary |
|-------------------------|----------------|
| Assistant Professor | \$70,000 |
| Associate Professor | \$85,000 |
| Professor | \$100,000 |
| Distinguished Professor | \$125,000 |

APPENDIX E – PAY DATES FOR 10-MONTH EMPLOYEES FOR FY18 AND FY19

| | | Pay Period | Pay Period | |
|----|------|------------|------------|-----------|
| FY | Pay# | Begin | End | Pay Dat |
| 18 | 1 | 7/30/2017 | 8/12/2017 | 8/11/201 |
| 18 | 2 | 8/13/2017 | 8/26/2017 | 8/25/201 |
| 18 | 3 | 8/27/2017 | 9/9/2017 | 9/8/201 |
| 18 | 4 | 9/10/2017 | 9/23/2017 | 9/22/201 |
| 18 | 5 | 9/24/2017 | 10/7/2017 | 10/6/201 |
| 18 | 6 | 10/8/2017 | 10/21/2017 | 10/20/201 |
| 18 | 7 | 10/22/2017 | 11/4/2017 | 11/3/201 |
| 18 | 8 | 11/5/2017 | 11/18/2017 | 11/17/201 |
| 18 | 9 | 11/19/2017 | 12/2/2017 | 12/1/201 |
| 18 | 10 | 12/3/2017 | 12/16/2017 | 12/15/201 |
| 18 | 11 | 12/17/2017 | 12/30/2017 | 12/29/201 |
| 18 | 12 | 12/31/2017 | 1/13/2018 | 1/12/201 |
| 18 | 13 | 1/14/2018 | 1/27/2018 | 1/26/203 |
| 18 | 14 | 1/28/2018 | 2/10/2018 | 2/9/201 |
| 18 | 15 | 2/11/2018 | 2/24/2018 | 2/23/201 |
| 18 | 16 | 2/25/2018 | 3/10/2018 | 3/9/20: |
| 18 | 17 | 3/11/2018 | 3/24/2018 | 3/23/20: |
| 18 | 18 | 3/25/2018 | 4/7/2018 | 4/6/20 |
| 18 | 19 | 4/8/2018 | 4/21/2018 | 4/20/20 |
| 18 | 20 | 4/22/2018 | 5/5/2018 | 5/4/20 |
| 18 | 21 | 5/6/2018 | 5/19/2018 | 5/18/20 |
| 18 | 22 | 5/20/2018 | 6/2/2018 | 6/1/20 |
| 19 | 1 | 7/29/2018 | 8/11/2018 | 8/10/20 |
| 19 | 2 | 8/12/2018 | 8/25/2018 | 8/24/20: |
| 19 | 3 | 8/26/2018 | 9/8/2018 | 9/7/20 |
| 19 | 4 | 9/9/2018 | 9/22/2018 | 9/21/20 |
| 19 | 5 | 9/23/2018 | 10/6/2018 | 10/5/20 |
| 19 | 6 | 10/7/2018 | 10/20/2018 | 10/19/20: |
| 19 | 7 | 10/21/2018 | 11/3/2018 | 11/2/20: |
| 19 | 8 | 11/4/2018 | 11/17/2018 | 11/16/20: |
| 19 | 9 | 11/18/2018 | 12/1/2018 | 11/30/20: |
| 19 | 10 | 12/2/2018 | 12/15/2018 | 12/14/20: |
| 19 | 11 | 12/16/2018 | 12/29/2018 | 12/28/20: |
| 19 | 12 | 12/30/2018 | 1/12/2019 | 1/11/20: |
| 19 | 13 | 1/13/2019 | 1/26/2019 | 1/25/20: |
| 19 | 14 | 1/27/2019 | 2/9/2019 | 2/8/20: |
| 19 | 15 | 2/10/2019 | 2/23/2019 | 2/22/20: |
| 19 | 16 | 2/24/2019 | 3/9/2019 | 3/8/20: |
| 19 | 17 | 3/10/2019 | 3/23/2019 | 3/22/20: |
| 19 | 18 | 3/24/2019 | 4/6/2019 | 4/5/20 |
| 19 | 19 | 4/7/2019 | 4/20/2019 | 4/19/20: |
| 19 | 20 | 4/21/2019 | 5/4/2019 | 5/3/20: |
| 19 | 21 | 5/5/2019 | 5/18/2019 | 5/17/20: |
| 19 | 22 | 5/19/2019 | 6/1/2019 | 5/31/203 |

APPENDIX F – 1993 FACULTY TEACHING LOAD AGREEMENT



University General Counsel and Executive Director of Employee Relations

MEMORANDUM

| TO: | Saul K. Fenster, President, NJIT Eugene Golub, President, PSA/AAUP | |
|-----|--|--|
| | Gary L. Thomas, Provost, NJIT Robert Dresnack, Chief Negotiator, PSA/AAUP | |
| | Henry Mauermeyer, Vice President for Administration & Treasurer, NJIT | |

FROM: Robert H. Avery, General Counsel & Executive Director for Employee Relations, NJIT

DATE: December 7, 1993

RE: Minutes of Meeting of Officers of NJIT and FSA/AAUP Regarding Faculty Load Methodology

The following represents the minutes of a specially called meeting of the above-referenced individuals concerning the appropriate statement of methodology for teaching load at NJIT, where consensus was reached in good faith representing guiding principle.

The fundamental principles espoused in the Preamble to Section 216 of the governing Faculty Handbook (attached) concerning faculty load methodology, are recertified, and adjusted as necessary, concomitant with NJIT's current status as a research university. Further, NJIT recognizes the nominal teaching load of nine contact-hours per semester as representing that evolution of NJIT to its current status as a public research university.

This recertification and recognition is understood to be dollar neutral at this point in time, from and with respect to status quo prior to recertification methodology. However, it is contemplated that there are potential redistributions of certain individual load assignments, modest class size adjustment where and when appropriate and necessary flexibility in program administration to maintain institutional integrity while remaining true to the methodology herein recertified.

The principals, to this meeting of the minds, further understand that those faculty who are primarily, only teaching may be expected to teach up to 12 hours. Currently, excluding School of Architecture faculty hours, the university cites approximately 37 +/- faculty teaching

University Heights Newark, New Jersey 07102 (201) 596-3107/6383

APPENDIX F

twelve (12) hours and 14 more teaching between 9 and 12 hours. This snapshot represents significantly less than 18% +/- of the faculty body and within the College of Engineering the percentage is lower still. It is anticipated that these numbers will not increase and over time will diminish as the academic mission of the university is fully realized throughout its faculty constituency.

As governance of consensus is appropriate from time to time, the principals or their formal successors and/or assigns agree to maintain periodic review of the integrity of this methodology giving due attention and respect to real or genuinely perceived aberrations herefrom as brought forward by the university, its individual faculty and/or from among the governing jurisdiction of the PSA/AAUP or Faculty Council.

Initially, the university commits to aggressively certify this methodology from among the faculty engaged primarily in teaching within the graduate disciplines. Additionally, it is understood that governance of principles herein espoused contemplates undergraduate cooperative education, and other similar teaching relating assignments to be recognized as part of the faculty assignment and be handled in an equitable, consistent and reasonable practice at the departmental level.

Agreement with the minutes as set out above shall be certified by initialling his assent next to his respective name.

Finally, the principals agree that this recertification contemplates the sunsetting, as specifically negotiated to good faith closure, of Article XIII. G., Thesis Advisement Reimbursement of the successor Collective Bargaining Agreement between NJIT and the PSA/AAUP as well as a comprehensive negotiated package of mutual concessions as discussed in principle heretofore, at which time these minutes shall be recertified.

Robert H. Avery

Executive Director of Employee

Relations

RHA: BCD

APPENDIX G – PROCEDURES FOR APPLYING FOR PROMOTION TO SENIOR LECTURER POSITION

Promotion to the position of Senior University Lecturer

10/2/13

1. Background

The Senior University Lecturer is a rank of distinction that can be attained either on initial appointment or through promotion. Appointment to the rank of Senior University Lecturer is offered to candidates with documented superior performance and credentials in their domain of expertise. Given the nature of instructional focus of these positions, promotion from the rank of University Lecturer to the rank of Senior University Lecturer is attained through successful teaching-related performance over a sustained period, demonstrating a record of substantial and continued effectiveness.. To be eligible for promotion to the position of Senior University Lecturer, the candidate must have served for five consecutive years in the position of University Lecturer. Equivalent full-time teaching at the college level may be considered for two of the required five year period. The quality and significance of the candidate's work in instruction will be the primary determinant for promotion; however, professional development, scholarship, and service contributions may also be considered and evaluated.

2. Procedure

The promotion process is initiated by the candidate's department chair. The candidate is asked to submit a dossier for consideration at the departmental level. The dossier will contain information and supporting materials supplied by the candidate, department, and university. The department chair reviews the submitted materials and may consult with other faculty in the department who are familiar with the candidate's work or with the departmental Promotion and Tenure Committee. A recommendation from the chair, along with the dossier, is then submitted in writing to the dean of the candidate's school/college. The dean will, in turn, review the dossier and the chair's recommendation and will write a recommendation letter that is forwarded, also along with the dossier, to the Provost for final action. The Provost will notify the candidate regarding approval or denial of promotion in writing, with copies sent to the department chair and Dean. A candidate for promotion who contends unjust denial may appeal the decision in writing to the Provost through the department chair, and dean, within 14 calendar days of the date of receipt of written notification of denial. Grounds for appeal exist when the denial of promotion resulted from the fact that not all evidence in support of the candidate was presented at the time of the original consideration or when the denial resulted from procedural irregularities.

3. Required Materials

The dossier should be submitted in electronic form and must include the following components:

3.1 Information on the Candidate (required)
Candidate's Biographical Data (including CV in NJIT format)

Candidate's Personal Statement on Teaching (Max 2 typed pages)

APPENDIX G

3.2 Recommendations (required)

Summary report and recommendation of department chair

Annual reviews written by the Department Chair in the five preceding years.

Recommendation of dean

3.3 Assessment of Instruction (required)

List of all course taught by candidate in past five years inclusive of enrollment data Sample of teaching materials (syllabi, notes, handouts, etc.)

Evaluative summary on quality of teaching

Tabular summary of student evaluations for all courses taught in the five preceding years, actual rating sheets, all student comments in uncdited form, a summary indicating the spread of numerical responses, and grade distribution in each of these classes.

Courses and curriculum development involvement

3.4 Assessment of Scholarship (optional)

Grant activities related to teaching

Scholarly contributions, primarily related to teaching, including publications in the discipline, pedagogy, and in applications of research to educational contexts.

Presentations of scholarly work at conferences, professional meetings or workshops.

3.5 Assessment of Service (optional)

A statement addressing the candidate's work on departmental, college, and university committees as well as service external to the university including professional organizations.

Outreach contributions, including K-12 involvement, service to the community, and the profession.

4. Schedule

Submission of dossier to department chair: October 1st

Forwarding of department chair recommendation and candidate's dossier to dean: December 1st Forwarding of dean's recommendation and candidate's dossier to Provost: February 1st

Written notification from provost to candidate: April 1st

Submission of appeal: April 15th Response to appeal: May 30th

If awarded, promotion is effect Fall of the next academic year.

APPENDIX H - LECTURER SALARY MATRIX

University Lecturer / Senior Lecturer Salary Matrix

| Rank | Minimum* | Maximum | |
|----------------------------|----------|-----------|--|
| University Lecturer | \$50,000 | \$85,000 | |
| Senior University Lecturer | \$55,000 | \$105,000 | |

* The Minimums listed above are effective in Year 3 of the Agreement. The previous "dynamic minimum" will remain in effect for Years 1 and 2 of the Agreement, meaning that the Minimum is set at the lowest current salary for any full-time Lecturer. Prior to Year 3, no new Lecturers will be hired at a salary lower than the salary received by the lowest paid Lecturer already employed by NJIT.

APPENDIX I – UNIVERSITY TUITION REMISSION POLICY



Tuition Remission Policy

All Tuition Remission Plans described in this Policy are subject to the availability of funds as determined by the President of the University. While NJIT expects to continue the Tuition Remission Program as a benefit for employees, it reserves the right, subject to contractual obligations or other limitations, to modify or discontinue the Plan should it become necessary or advisable. To the extent that collective bargaining agreements contain different provisions, such provisions shall be controlling.

Overview

New Jersey Institute of Technology (hereinafter "NJIT") recognizes the importance of investing in Tuition Remission for its employees. To this end, NJIT's Tuition Remission Policy provides eligible employees and their dependent child(ren) with the opportunity to advance their education, and provides employees with a means to achieve, maintain or enhance existing professional skills. The Policy summarizes who may participate in the Plan, what programs qualify for reimbursement, and how to apply for Tuition Remission assistance. The Human Resources Department is responsible for Plan administration.

The Program

A. General Eligibility for Employees:

- 1. Tuition assistance is available to full-time employees and part-time employees who work a minimum of 20 hours per week, and members of the Air Force Reserve Officers' Training Corps (AFROTC). Adjunct faculty, temporary workers, consultants, leased or contracted individuals and other employees who work fewer than 20 hours per week, are not eligible for tuition remission benefits.
- 2. Eligibility begins after one year of continuous employment at NJIT and continues while the employee is actively employed when course(s) are completed. The employee must be admitted in an undergraduate or graduate degree program as a matriculated student, or be admitted to a university credit-bearing certificate program.

B. General Conditions of Program for Employees:

1. <u>Costs and Associated Expenses</u>: An eligible employee must meet the administrative and academic requirements and follow all admissions and registration procedures. The cost of fees, textbooks, laboratory breakage, travel (where applicable) and other incidental expenditures are the responsibility of the employee. Any penalties associated with late submission of forms and any other documents are the responsibility of the employee.

2. Coverage:

(a). General:

- (i.) Approved programs, which include both degree programs and creditbearing certificate programs, must provide an employee with the skills and competencies that can be applied to a specific career development program. Approved programs must be related to an employee's career at NJIT and support the goals and objectives of the university. This determination shall be made by the area Vice President with the consultation and approval of the Vice President for Human Resources.
- (ii.) The Plan does not reimburse for professional seminars, continuing education, conferences, workshops, licenses, licensed examinations, entrance exams, non-credit-bearing certificate programs and non-academic courses. Funds may be available from the employee's department to cover non-credit bearing courses and certifications that are not eligible for tuition remission benefits.
- (iii.) When departmental funds are used to cover tuition costs, employees may take non-matriculating college credit courses to enhance their on-thejob skills, provided they receive advance written approval from the appropriate Department Head/ Dean and area Vice-President.

(b.) Programs at NJIT:

A maximum of two (2) credit bearing courses, per Fall or Spring semester, or Summer, may be taken by full-time employees at NJIT for a maximum of (6) courses during the year. This includes thesis supervision/dissertation. Thesis courses are paid only for the minimum required for the program. Eligible part-time employees may enroll in one (1) course per Fall, Spring, or Summer semester, up to a maximum of three (3) courses during the year.

(c.) Programs Taken at Other Colleges/Universities:

(i.) Course Limits:

A maximum of two (2) credit-bearing graduate or undergraduate courses, per Fall or Spring semester, or Summer, for tuition only, up to a maximum of the NJIT in-state per credit tuition rate, may be taken by the employee at another accredited college or university, for a maximum of six (6) courses during the year. This includes thesis supervision/dissertation. Thesis courses will be paid up to a maximum of the tuition rate at NJIT. Tuition balances that exceed the NJIT in-state per credit tuition rate at another accredited college or university, and all fees, are the responsibility of the employee.

(ii.) Cross Registration:

Tuition costs for courses taken at Rutgers-Newark or Essex County College during the Fall or Spring semesters are eligible for tuition remission if the employee cross-registers for a mandatory course that is not offered at NJIT.

(iii) On-Line Courses:

Many on-line accredited colleges and universities operate on a lesson or unit basis rather than by semesters. The employee must provide a statement from the college or university showing the total number of lessons or units in the course, the total cost for the course (less fees and cost for books and other equipment), and the amount of tuition paid, if applicable, and submit the final grade upon completion of the course. Tuition for on-line courses will be paid up to the maximum in-state per credit tuition rate paid for courses taken at NJIT.

3. Other Requirements and Conditions for Employees:

(a.) Primary Employment Obligation:

Tuition assistance approval does not excuse the employee from work. Employees are expected to schedule classes that do not conflict with regular working hours. If a course is only available during work hours, the employee's supervisor will decide whether or not to release him or her from work to attend the class based on the work requirements of the department, charging leave banks where appropriate. Employees are expected to make up lost work time.

(b.) Spouses:

Neither the employee's spouse, domestic partner nor civil union partner is eligible to receive tuition benefits.

(c.) Separating from NJIT:

If an employee terminates employment with NJIT, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, reimbursement will be paid for courses successfully completed before the last day worked. Employees who leave the employ of NJIT before completing the course must reimburse the university.

C. <u>Eligibility for Dependent Children</u>:

1. Employment Status of Parent:

- (a.) Eligibility for tuition remission as an NJIT student (including NJIT cross-registration programs) begins immediately upon employment of the parent at NJIT. Tuition remission benefits for dependents are not available for programs at other universities that are not part of an NJIT-affiliated program.
- (b.) The parent of the child must be regularly employed on a full-time basis as of the first day of the course. To remain eligible, the dependent's parent must maintain full-time employment with the university. If the parent separates from NJIT after the child begins a semester, whether voluntary or involuntarily, or due to death or disability, eligibility will continue during the semester, but end upon completion of the semester.

2. Definition of Dependency:

- (a.) A dependent child shall be defined as a child who is dependent upon the employee for support as defined by the Internal Revenue Service, and claimed as a dependent on the employee's federal income tax return. The university reserves the right to request a copy of the parent or legal guardian's federal income tax return.
- (b.) The dependent child must be the biological child, adopted child, stepchild, or ward of the employee and must be the employee's dependent (documentation is required).
- (c.) The dependent child must be less than 23 years old at the time of enrollment. Married children are not classified as dependents, and are not eligible for tuition remission benefits.

3. Requirements and Conditions for Dependents:

- (a.) Dependent children must register for a full-time, matriculating, undergraduate program at NJIT for the child's first baccalaureate degree. Dependent children must be registered for no fewer than 12 credits and not more than 19 credits per semester. The Plan does not cover graduate courses for dependent children. The dependent child may register as part-time only during the last semester of his or her senior year.
- (b.) Dependent children must meet the university's academic admissions requirements and follow registration procedures. The cost of textbooks, fees, travel, laboratory breakage and other incidental expenditures are the responsibility of the employee.

(c.) Dependent children will receive tuition assistance for only one summer course. Eligibility for tuition remission during the summer will require written approval of the student's academic advisor and will count as one semester of tuition assistance.

D. Other Program Requirements Applicable to All Eligible Participants:

1. Satisfactory Academic Progress:

The employee or dependent must maintain satisfactory academic progress in order to maintain eligibility.

2. Scholarships, Grants, G.I. Bill Benefits:

- (a.) The plan will not pay for any course more than once, and it will not duplicate other educational assistance the dependent may be receiving, such as scholarships, veteran's educational benefits or other financial aid. In no case will tuition be granted beyond 10 terms for a 4 year program or beyond 12 terms for a 5 year program.
- (b.) After scholarships, grants, G.I. Bill benefits, and other third party grant sources of payment, if any, have been applied to tuition and fees, the remaining balance of tuition and fees (if applicable) shall be eligible for waiver in accordance with the terms of this policy.

3. <u>Courses Taken During Previous Semesters</u>:

Tuition cannot be approved retroactively for courses taken during previous semesters.

4. Auditing or Repeating a Course:

Tuition Remission will not be granted if the employee or dependent chooses to audit a course and therefore does not receive a grade. Tuition Remission does not cover the cost of tuition for courses that the employee or dependent elects or is required to repeat.

5. Reimbursement:

(a.) Prior to the grant of Tuition Remission benefits the employee must complete the required Tuition Remission Form making his or her request and authorizing NJIT to deduct from his or her salary any amount that may become due under the Tuition Remission Program because of the receipt by the employee and/or his or her eligible dependent of a grade of less than "C", Fail or Incomplete.

(b.) Reimbursement for employees and/or their eligible dependents can be paid through the Bursar's Office, or through payroll deductions set up through the Payroll Office.

6. IRS Taxable Income:

The Tuition Remission benefit may be considered taxable income in accordance with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations. NJIT will determine whether or not the benefits received from the Tuition Remission Plan are subject to withholding as compensation, based on the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The sections of the tax code that govern whether or not NJIT must withhold tax on a reimbursement are subject to change.

7. Grades:

(a.) <u>Submission Deadline</u>:

Employees and their dependents taking courses at NJIT are not required to submit grades. Final grades will be obtained by the Human Resources Office through the SIS system. Upon the completion of a course, employees taking courses outside of NJIT are required to submit a transcript of their final grades to the Human Resources Office within 30 days of completion of the course(s). If grades are not submitted, tuition reimbursement will not be processed for the following semester.

(b.) Grades of "C" or Better; Pass:

The employee or dependent must maintain satisfactory academic progress in order to maintain eligibility. If a course is not completed, or the employee and/or dependent receives a grade below a "C", or in a Pass/Fail course the course is failed, the cost of tuition for the course(s) must be repaid by the employee to the university at the per credit rate.

(c.) Grades Less than "C", Fail or Incomplete – NJIT Reimbursement:

As noted, the employee shall be responsible for the costs of taking the course and must reimburse NJIT for the cost of tuition and fees, if applicable, for courses taken by the employee or his/her dependent for grades of , "D" (deficient), "F" (failed), or failing to convert a grade of "I" (incomplete) to a grade of "C" or better within one (1) semester. Reimbursements for dependents will be calculated on the per credit rate charged. The employee will be required to make arrangements with the Payroll Office to reimburse the university tuition remission benefits paid on behalf of the employee and/or their dependent.

If the employee does not agree to make arrangements to reimburse the university, further tuition remission benefits will be denied, and the university reserves the right to commence automatic payroll deductions from the employee's salary not to exceed ten percent (10%) of the employee's bi-weekly salary until the full amount due is paid. As noted above, by signing the Tuition Remission Form, the employee authorizes NJIT to deduct the reimbursement from their salary.

(d.) Withdrawing from a Course:

If an employee or his or her dependent withdraws from an NJIT course after the Registrar's Office withdrawal deadline date, (the add/drop period) the employee must reimburse the university. If an employee withdraws from a non-NJIT course, the employee must reimburse the university if NJIT paid for the course.

E. <u>Procedures for Applying for Tuition Remission:</u>

- 1. Initial submission of the applicable forms for tuition remission approval must be filed thirty (30) business days prior to the start of the semester. Thereafter, the employee must complete and submit a Tuition Remission Form before the beginning of each semester. The appropriate documentation must be attached to the tuition form, and the form must be signed by the employee and approved by the employee's Department Head/ Dean and area Vice President. Incomplete forms will be returned.
- 2. When all approval levels have been met, the Tuition Remission Form must be submitted to the Human Resources Office for processing.
- 3. Employees who are requesting tuition remission benefits for their eligible dependents must complete a Tuition Remission Form at the beginning of each semester. The form must be signed by the employee, and approved by the employee's Department Head/ Dean and area Vice President. Adequate supporting documentation must be submitted to support the amount of the benefits requested. Supporting documentation can include Bursar's Office statements, financial aid information and course statements from the registrar, or other documentation, as requested.
- 4. Tuition Remission Forms are available in the Human Resources Office or can be downloaded from the HR website at www.njit.edu/humanresources
- 5. If courses are taken at another accredited college or university, the enrollment form, invoice or proof of payment must be attached to the Tuition Remission form.

APPENDIX J - LARGE CLASS SIZE AGREEMENT

MOU-Large Class Size Load and Support

To improve efficiency in course delivery without compromising course quality and content, large classes will be limited to courses that will not be impacted detrimentally. The objective is to effectively utilize faculty resources while avoiding teaching loads with too many contact hours for the faculty to effectively conduct research, scholarship and other faculty duties.

Course loads and the support required to accomplish this objective are outlined below.

<u>Load Credit Multiplier (LCM)</u> For each section taught by an instructor, there is a load credit multiplier (LCM) that when multiplied by the number of contact hours for the course yields the load credit received by the instructor for teaching the course. The LCM guide for a section is determined by the enrollment in the section according to the following table:

| | Load Credit Multiplier (LCM) |
|------------------------|------------------------------|
| From 1 to 39 students | 1.00 |
| From 40 to 49 students | 1.25 |
| From 50 to 74 students | 1.50 |
| From 75 to 99 students | 1.75 |
| 100 or more students | 2.00 |

Principles for Grading Support

Important principles apply when grading support is provided:

- 1. Departments will provide and set qualifications for graders.
- 2. The instructor must supervise the grading, retains responsibility for grades given, and must review contested grades.
- 3. In all courses, the faculty has responsibility for the course content and pedagogy including the assignment and assessment of homework, projects, papers, quizzes and exams. The faculty

APPENDIX J

will continue to fulfill this responsibility through institutional structures including curriculum committees, departmental administration, course coordinators and as individual instructors. Additional resources beyond those in place, such as graders, required to implement assessments are approved and distributed by the Provost through the deans and the chairs.

- 4. Regardless of the level of grading support provided, instructors are expected to retain regular personal involvement in the grading of student work. This involvement must be sufficient for the instructor to have a clear understanding of the progress of the students in the class. While instructors can expect assistance with grading responsibilities in recognition of their efforts to supervising grading, this MOU does not mandate the reduction of an instructor's personal grading load for any course below half that required for a normal-sized class.
- 5. Courses which utilize common shared grading of exams will distribute grading responsibility among the instructors in an equitable manner. The course coordinator will assign grading duties to the instructors, as much as practicable, taking into consideration the grading support assigned to each instructor.
- In some courses, such as many writing intensive courses, for which qualified graders (or appropriate alternative grading methods) cannot be secured, large-lecture format will not be used.
- 7. The large class workload formula described in this MOU shall apply to faculty and university lecturers.

Grading support will be provided to support large classes when the total student-hour load of the instructor exceeds the expected grading load. This expected grading load for each instructor is determined by multiplying the instructors nominal course load (the number of standard sized classes which would be assigned after any released time is applied) by 30. When the actual total student-hours taught by an instructor exceed the expected grading load, grading support will generally be provided, as required, to the instructor in large sections which exceed 33 students. The extent of grading support provided will depend on the department and the makeup and delivery of the course taking into consideration the actual grading load.

APPENDIX K - REFERENCE TO 1977-1979 AGREEMENT

REFERENCE TO 1977 – 1979 AGREEMENT

Faculty Rights and Responsibilities as referenced in the 1977-79 Agreement.

- A. The following matters may be grieved up to and including Step 3 but shall not be subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement unless and until special legislation is passed providing for such arbitration.
- 1. The Employer agrees to involve the faculty, through faculty governance, in the development of proposals for possible restructuring of the University.
- 2. The President of the University shall consult with the Faculty Council prior to any planned substantial change in the number of tenured personnel or the percentage of tenured personnel based on the number of full-time teaching lines and shall give serious consideration to any disagreement expressed.

APPENDIX L – SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT CONCERNING PROFESSORS OF PRACTICE

LETTER OF AGREEMENT -

The parties agree that the newly created full-time position of Professor of Practice, is a position covered by the collective bargaining agreement between the parties.

The full-time Professor of Practice position, as defined by the NJIT Faculty Handbook is a non-tenure-track position intended for accomplished professionals who possess state-of-the-art expertise in contemporary practice in fields such as business, industry, government, the arts, and the professions. Appointments are made for one semester or one year in accordance with the policies and procedures of the hiring Department or Academic Unit, and may be extended for up to three years based on an annual review by the Department or Academic Unit.

Salary Minimums for full-time Professors of Practice for the term of this contract is \$60,000 per year.

For New Jersey Institute of Technology

Kay Turner, Esq., SPHR

Vice President Human Resources

For AAUP/ PSA

Manuel Perez, Acting President PSA

Date 7/24/17